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Characteristics of The Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM"”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a high investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM

mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high
market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.
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e Establishment of the Group
o REBM L

¢ Development of technologies and applications
o Fiig K fE AR B

e Launched hardware products for smartcard system under
the trademark of "HOMAC"

1997

1998

1999

e Awarded with important smartcard and RFID projects in Hong Kong

* LL[HOMAC ] W@ S BB F RS EANERER
s REBISZEEARE R FREVIEZR TR

e Winning of 2000 HK Industry Award
s IS—ZTTHFRBIHER

2000

2001

e Listing on The Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited

e Establishment of wholly owned PRC subsidiary: ITE (China) Limited in

Shanghai
e Winning of 2001 HK Industry Award

e Acquisition of leading IT System Integrator, Quesco Holdings Limited and

Quesco Systems Limited on 7 December 2001
s NEBHAREMARARRIZERTS LT
s RHPEl LRI ZEMBAR @ LBMKERAKERAT
s M2 -/ BIXK

* REZZ-F+ZBLHWBATRAEBHUNENRNRARERD — &S
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2002

e Accreditation of ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System

e Launched new ISO15693 product series and solutions

e Patent filing of ISO15693 based Smart Key Management
System (SKMS) accepted by the State Intellectual Property
Office of the People’s Republic of China

e Awarded with the first ISO15693 Smartlabel project in Hong
Kong

e Strategic Business Agreement signed with Shanghai Public
Traffic Card Company Limited (SPTCC) for the provision of
value-added solutions and services to its user community

e Entered into distributor agreement with Texas Instruments
for marketing, sales and support of its product ranges

e Became the sub-issuer of MULTOS

e Receiving of Caring Company Award

e HIf51SO 9001:2000fR B E B R4 2%

o HEH—R5ISO15693E MR RS R

e HISO15693 B EH N EHRAEEAREFNPFERPTHAR
HREERENRZE

° RIGABHIEISO15693BEZHAR TR

o B EBAHRRBFROERA DL KK WZE - RERAFE
RS EARTS ZRRHB

o HXEEMNERARETDHHE  REERFEER - HER
X&E

* MAMULTOSHIE TR

o B BARBIE| SR

2003

e Geographical expansion into Macao

e Appointed as an international channel partner of Transcore,
LP

e Patent filing of Automated Passenger Management System
(APMS) accepted by the State Intellectual Property Office of
the People’s Republic of China

e Accredited as one of the fastest growing technology
companies by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in the “2003 Asia
Pacific Technology Fast 500"

o ERIMREIRM

& Transcore, LP ZEBBEIRZH

c ik BMBRERASEN R BFETREERANHEEREF
RXRE

s KEH e HERSEMITAERE BT AMESRES
M ER50058 | EEHTER
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2004

e Establishment of ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada

e Contract award of the Macao SAR Customs Services “Automated Vehicle
Clearance System" & Public Security Forces Affairs Bureau “Automated
Passenger Clearance System”

e Successfully completed the ISO 9001:2000 Quiality Assurance System Audit

e Awarded the Caring Company by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service

s N EEREZ (RF) BRAH

* FIVEEURMERITRESHE [ERABERASR IR
REZBEEHF [TREEDHBEAZRS T2

° FITEALISO 9001: 2000 FHEB R EE BB RHEAE

o EEMFENEAARBIE]ES

2005

e Winning of “Hong Kong Awards For Industries 2005 — Machinery and
Equipment Design Award” for Automated Passenger Management System
("APMS™)

e Awarded of Computer Registration Management System of the Construction
Worker Registration Authority, HKSAR

e QSL passed the ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System

e Successfully completed the Hong Kong Marathon 2005

e Joined “Give Blood Give Live” — Blood Donation Day for the Hong Kong Red
Cross Blood Transfusion Service

o [IMEEEBHALKL | XE_STRRBIRES — B RBERFE

o BEUZEXT AGEMEERNEMIEMERRRNENIRE

o FERIFERBIBISO 9001:2000 8 B A& R WHEZ

* BN ARE BB HIA2005

e BLSHEBATFERMTH

2006

o Official launch of Computer Registration Management
System of the Construction Worker Registration Authority,
HKSAR

Overseas expansion in Middle East and Southeast Asia

Establishment of Intellectual Property Rights Centre

ITE Smartcard Solutions Ltd. implemented the first

Automated Passenger Clearance System (“APCS”) of the

Public Security Forces Services Bureau, Macao SAR at the

Barrier Gate Checkpoint

e |TE and Quesco staff completed the Hong Kong Marathon
2006

o |TE and Quesco received the “Caring Company Logo” by
The Hong Kong Council of Social Welfare for four years and
two years respectively

o Successfully completed Exhibition in “IT Week 2005” Macao

e The ITE Smart Key Management System Patent was

successfully granted by State Intellectual Property Office of

the People’s Republic of China

BEET AGMEERNEMEMEBERRERNRARS

s ERESERBARBE  MRMSETRRREEERTR

BRI ERE O

BRFISRITHRERZHKER SN [ BENRBERS ] MR ZE

BRI AR N BERE L EXEE

o BEREMNBIMAINITHEBER2006

o BIEBEAFRERBEFER [HRARBIE]ER

o BEMYTEARM [EREHE2005| RE

o BEMNERPEARANEERMBEERS BREEBEE

MEZE R | EF
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2007

¢ Winning of “Hong Kong Awards For Industries 2007 — Machinery and Equipment
Design Award Certificate of Merit” for “Wireless Smartcard Transaction Controller
featuring Bluetooth technology”

Official Launch of Extension of Macao Automated Passenger Management System
("APMS")

Granting of Research Funding by Innovation and Technology Commission of HK to
RF Tech Ltd.

Forming Strategic Partnership with Macao Pass Card

e New Trademark and Logo for RF Tech Ltd.’s Software Product Series (“intelli”)
Granting of the First U.S. Design Patent by the United States Patent and Trademark
Office to RF Tech Ltd.

« [RREFREENOEE PR PRHE] SE-STLEEE IR - BERRE
it

FEHBRFRE B BREEEAS (APMS)) HiER RS
RF Tech Ltd. FRINERE BRIFRHEENRAIFT R AR ES
B2 R | AR A 1ER

lintelli ] A& BRF Tech Ltd. BU 4 £ & R 5 HRIE R AERS

RF Tech Ltd. ;R I EE ERERIEE /N EZERETER

2008

Become the regional channel partner of the world leading smartcard and digital
security company, Gemalto SA

Completion of the first Innovation and Technology Commission funded research and
development project, Embedded Computer Vision Escalator Passenger Monitor, together
with a PCT patent filed

Delivery of the first multi-applications smartcard system built on MacaoPass Card for
a luxury real estate complex in Macao

Completion of a sophisticated equipment asset management system for the Macao
Prison using RFID technologies

Completion of the first smartcard driven passage management and access control
system for the Lingnan University

Collaboration with the Hong Kong Polytechnic University through the first technology
transfer and licensing arrangement for a digital security product

BB R RBISRRERRBELAGemalto SAFEBSERHi=
HIEESAFREBESHENER — [HRAXMERR BT ARERERE
B |- BRI  SEBER SR R BRI ER

RUBE RN EEENRM RS FEIRERRGNRERXEER

FREh AP BRI B R IR L E M BTSRRI TV E B IR R 5T
AERASRHEEER FBERMERS

HEBETAREHEAE  BBRNEBRRABZRER
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2009

e Delivery of the first campus smartcard system based on Macau
Pass Card for Macao Pui Ching Middle School

e Partnering with Canon Hong Kong for the development of Macau
Pass Card driven e-payment solution for their photocopiers

o System migration from contact to contactless smartcards for The
Chinese University of Hong Kong

e Award of hospital-wide access control system contracts for Queen
Elizabeth Hospital, Grantham Hospital, The Duchess of Kent
Children’s Hospital and Tung Wah Hospital

o Award of contract for the provision of computer personnel services
for the Hong Kong Hospital Authority

e Completion of Exhibition in “CARTES in Asia”

° MAEFIEEPERBERINENEFIBEFIRESEFER

* HCanonfEREEBAM DAL ARMEEAE - RIFMEER R
B FEARETHNZ IR RITEREF RN ENTBERS

o AEBHNABBEEF AR AEAEEERTIFHEER

c REIZBERNEEFEREH  BEFFDAER - B2itE
Bt~ ROBRBEBABRA R B R RELER

s BB AEBEREERREREMSHESRBENED

o FINTER [EENEREF B BB TR |

2010

e Collaboration with Automotive Parts and Accessory Systems R&D

Centre (“APAS") for development of Electric Vehicle Fast Charging

Station with Professional E-payment System, and completion of

exhibitions in various regions

Expand collaboration with Canon Hong Kong for development

of Octopus Card driven e-payment solutions for their document

management systems

e Delivery of the first multi-applications payment solution based on
MacauPass Card for the Macao Institute for Tourism Studies

e Development of the first active-RFID based track and trace

application for Macao law enforcement government department

Launch of the World’s 1st Dual Frequency RFID guard tour reader

with Bluetooth connectivity

EREENMMARBRPOEE  BREAEESTRERS

ZEHEREFTEL - WS EHENREESREH

EECanonfEREEBEIRAREREE - IIBRER[/EE |+
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2011

¢ Extended coverage of intellAC intelligent security systems to the eighth public hospital
in Hong Kong

Complete delivery of an advanced hybrid RFID enabled library automated system for
an academic institute in Macao

Complete delivery of an automatic fare collection system for a public swimming pool
of the Hong Kong SAR Government

Award of contract for the design and supply of book sorter system for a public library
of the Hong Kong SAR Government

Launch of 20Kw DC fast charging station for electric vehicle charging application
Trail testing of electric vehicle fast charging stations at Government Department and
automobile service centre

Invention patent granted for ‘Embedded Computer Vision Escalator Passenger
Monitor’ by the State Intellectual Property Office
RUSERZAGEEEAVEREERE/N\B

R FNREPIRERR TR R —TBE NSRRI R B 7R AR iTH BB E S EE
TERZNEBEAE T 2 ARFEN BERB RS
EN—ELARBENE T AREERREHRZEENADIERENEH
[20FREBHHEZRREFTEBI | RERRATSEA

EREBBN — AP R BB ERGE P ETREFTBITEBHT

SR [RARGTERRERRAREREREE | BPEARANBRERAR=E
ERERTER

2012

Launch an Octopus Card payment solution for two fast charging
stations of electric vehicle in Hong Kong Island

Complete delivery of the second automatic fare collection system
for a public swimming pool of the Hong Kong SAR Government
Expand the hospital smartcard platform to intelligent emergency
call system and lift control system

Awarded a contract for the design and supply Computerised
Vehicle Inspection System for the Transport Department of Hong
Kong SAR Government

Accredited the Certificate of Merit in 2012 Hong Kong Awards
for Industries with HOMAC® RD-200AB ISO 15693 Handheld
Antenna Reader

Accredited two “Certificate of Merits in Hong Kong RFID Awards
2012" with HOMAC® RD-200AB ISO 15693 Handheld Antenna
Reader and Embedded Computer Vision and RFID Enabled Book
Enrolment Mechanism

Invention patent granted for “Device for registering and managing
book based on computer vision and radio frequency identification
technique” by the State Intellectual Property Office of the People’s
Republic of China

me [RANEBRERG 2 EHEEREIRET B | NEEEIE
XA

TRRZNEZEEBBUNE T ARFKEHN BB RBE R4
BREREEFEESREESRYARRARKEERSR
ER—BARBINE T ERENEMLBRRIRS

[ ERETER I BT A F 5=\ BIRERS | 1520128 8 TR
BT ARTERRE
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WSE2012E8BREGIERB A RERESE
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2013

e Complete Type Approval of the new Access Control System and Vehicle
Parking Management System for Octopus Cards

e Complete Type Approval of the new Vehicle Parking Management System for
MacauPass Cards

e Complete delivery of the full-scale territory-wide property client management
system for MTRC in Hong Kong

e Expand the hospital smartcard platform for the control and management of
new buildings and wards

e Awarded a new contract for the design, development, supply and delivery
of hardware, software and related professional services for the electronic
payment system of electric vehicle fast charging station of a local utility
company

e Launch of “Pay-by-Smartphone” software product to the intelli® software
family in supporting of e-payment applications

e Accredited the “Certificate of Merit in Hong Kong RFID Awards 2013" for
HOMAC® ML-100GTB Advanced Guard Tour Reader

CEWM[NEBFERAR | MEEAGENE  FAIRBXEH R/ EBFH
FIEEHRGREEERRR

CEHM NEPIERMARAR | BEREIH  RABBRMBEFATENEES
BEAS

o URAT [ERBEEERDF | PESENEARMERN RS SRR

e AREBNUBREREBEERZRAS

o RAH — D AEIERE - BE - RHRRINERGRE TS EHEEERBEN
BEEEFREL

o SHEEFREBRAER 2 MinteliPBS "Pay-by-Smartphone” B2 f#E

o BT A [ ERSHER B BT H F 15K EBI R HOMAC ML-100GBT | » &R
[2013F B BRI ERBI KRRERES |
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2014

e Complete delivery of a sophisticated smart parking system
for the Chinese University of Hong Kong, which handles up
to 10,000 vehicles access on peak day

e Granted a US patent No. US8,885,048 B2, "Device for
registering and managing book based on computer vision
and radio frequency identification techniques"

e Launch of new hardware and software products of
"HOMAC SPM-10" Smart Parking Meter and "intelliSPM"
Intelligent Smart Parking Meter management system to
the HOMAC(r) product series and intelli® software family
in support of multiple ePayment solution for parking meter
application

e Complete delivery of facility equipment for the hostels of
the University of Macau at their new campus on Henggin
Island, Zhuhai

e Accredited the CHAdeMO certification of the EFS-50 Smart
Electric Vehicle Fast Charger jointly developed with the Hong
Kong Automotive Parts and Accessory Systems R&D Centre

e Awarded with the sixth consecutive service contract for the
production and personalization of student smartcards for
the Vocational Training Council

s RN EBHNARBEESEREEERLS
REE—BRAEEN

o R T —HEE#HAEFRIREIRUSS,885,048 B2 » ZIEEFZLL
STERIR BN SRRER R MEERNEABREREE

o P EROHE IR TR AL - HH 2HEH [HOMAC SPM-
10 F TintelliSPM ] B AR EZ TIREB FHEBHRAT R

e AWBREENRMABESRMURBREMLE RIS

o B [FEABEHHARRL | GEMBHN [EEEDERER
EILEFS-50] Bi&@iB B2 [CHAdeMO | #YRERE

cEEBEANFREIBEIRZEN  EERRMHEALEERE
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2015

e Awarded a new contract for the design, supply, delivery, installation,
testing, commissioning, documentation, training, management, operation,
maintenance and other related services for a new parking meter system trial
scheme of the Transport Department of HKSAR

e Awarded a new contract for the supply, delivery, installation of hardware,
software and related professional services for a new integrated security
system of Yau Ma Tei Specialist Clinic of the Hospital Authority at Queen
Elizabeth Hospital

e Complete delivery of a sophisticated RFID mortuary and autopsy management
system for six local hospitals in HKSAR, which streamlining the operations and
enhancing the management of bodies in HA mortuaries

e Launch of new hardware and software products of “HOMAC PTO-10", an
intelligent e-payment terminal which supports Octopus card payment for
semi-fast charging services of electric vehicle using 32A A/C supply

e Multi-standard Mobilized EV Smart Charger which is jointly developed
with the Hong Kong Automotive Parts and Accessory Systems R&D Centre,
awarded with Silver Medal in the 44th International Exhibition of Inventions
Geneva

e Awarded with the seventh consecutive service contract for the production
and personalization of student smartcards for the Vocational Training Council

e Awarded a new contract for the design, supply, delivery and installation of
the security access control system upgrade of Amoy Gardens

CEMEBEBFITHERERBENERERARSARTE BFER - H#HE- X
- =2 8IS B R - 181 B EE - #ERAMEBERENHS
G

e HEREERE T FFDREERT #Y it ERL 2 Frigft -
RIBBAEERBENFEREZRFHERE

cRAARBARERNBERBIHZRM -—ESXGIRBMBIBMEALS  #ME LR
1E - REEBEENE

e HHZH [HOMAC PTO-10] Efm » ERNEBFEFHE  XEBHIE3A
TRBFRETEREHEBEE F K Im i

cEI[EZHHHEREER O AAABEE-—EABBXNEHTEXSHER
RIE44E B NRERERR | PREHRE

cBEBELFIEA BEINRE | BTEE2RREBAAMERBERREED
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2016

Awarded a new contract for the provision of design,
implementation, and system support and maintenance for
new self-service kiosks for the Electronic Passport System to
the Immigration Department of HKSAR

Awarded a new contract by the Education University of
Hong Kong for the supply and installation of hostel Octopus
Payment Air Conditioner System

Awarded a new contract for the supply of book dispensers
to the Hong Kong Public Libraries of the Leisure and
Cultural Services Department of HKSAR

Launch of the field trial of our innovative product “"HOMAC
SPM-10A" in New Parking Meter System Trial Scheme of the
Transport Department at car park of Yuen Long and Mong
Kok

Smart ePayment Meter “HOMAC SPM-10A" awarded with
a Certificate of Merit in the 2016 Hong Kong Awards of
Industries

Awarded a new contract for the supply and delivery of
hardware, software and related professional services
for the electronic payment and information technology
infrastructures of electric vehicle DC fast charging stations
of two local utility companies
REBFITHEASEBRERUEFERADRERS 2
&R BleMARZISNEERE
ABBHAERBHENREUNEBRFIINERAHERSR
REEEERBETEEALESHERUBEEIRBEHE
BERERTHNRALFESE REAIHER [HOMAC SPM-
10A] BB ™ E F I EREKIERTE
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“the board”) of directors (the “directors”),
| hereby present the annual results for ITE (Holdings) Limited (the
“company”) and its subsidiaries (together, “ITE” or the “group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2017.

Mission

The mission of the group is to become the leading provider of smartcard,
radio frequency identification (“RFID"), biometrics product and solution
and professional services in the world. ITE has been pioneering and has
achieved outstanding performance in the areas of smartcard solutions
and integration services in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
("Hong Kong” or “HKSAR"), the Macao Special Administrative Region
("Macao”) and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). With profound
expertise, strong research and development (“R&D") capability, proven
track record and excellent reputation, the group has established a leading
profile in our industry and has adopted a proactive approach to introduce
innovative and customized smartcard, RFID and biometrics applications
to our clients. Leveraging on our extensive industry experience and
intellectual assets, ITE will continue to develop innovative products and
multi-applications solutions for clients coming from different industries
and to expand our businesses to more overseas countries.

Appreciation
I ' would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest thanks to my

directors, management and staff for their dedication and hard work, and
shareholders, financiers and business partners for their continued support.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Chairman

Hong Kong, 9 June 2017
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ographical Details of Directors & Senior Management
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Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, aged 53, is an Executive Director, Chief
Executive Officer and one of the founders of the group. He is responsible
for overall strategic planning and management of the group. With over
30 years of experience in the executive management, he was engaged
in China trade before founding the group. Mr. Lau graduated from The
University of Hong Kong with a first class honours Degree of Bachelor
of Science in Mechanical Engineering. He holds a number of invention
patents and has led many research and development projects under the
funding schemes of the Innovation Technology Commission of Hong Kong
Government. He is the industrial advisors to the Engineering Departments
of The City University of Hong Kong and The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung, aged 54, is an Executive Director and one of
the founders of the group. He is responsible for technical management
and research and development (R&D). With 33 years of experience in R&D
and production management, Mr. Cheng won the awards of the Hong
Kong Awards for Industry for seven times (two Machinery and Equipment
Design in 2005 and 2007, one Consumer Product Design in each of 1993,
2000 and 2001 and two Designs in 1997). He holds a Higher Diploma in
Electronics Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah, aged 48, is an Executive Director of the group. He
is responsible for financial management, accounting and corporate
development. Mr. Liu graduated from The London School of Economics
and Political Science of the University of London with a Bachelor of
Science degree, first class honours in Management Sciences. He is an
associate member of each of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales (“ICAEW") and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“"HKICPA"). Mr. Liu is the younger brother of Mr. Lau
Hon Kwong, Vincent.
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Biographical Details of Directors & Senior Management

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, CBt, BS, FHKIE, JP, aged 77, holds an honorary
doctoral degree in engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and an honorary doctoral in laws from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He was formerly a member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council
from 1978 to 1997 and a senior member of the Hong Kong Legislative
Council from 1988 to 1991. Dr. Lee was also a member of the Hong Kong
Executive Council from 1985 to 1992.

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, aged 51, is the Managing Director of
Anthony Kam & Associates Limited, Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Kam has been awarded an Honorary Fellowship from the University of
Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom. He is a Certified Public Accountant/
Chartered Accountant qualified in the People’s Republic of China, the
United Kingdom and Hong Kong. Mr. Kam has over 28 years’ experience
in auditing, accounting and tax matters, both in private and public

companies.

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew, 0.B.E. (Hon), P, aged 73, holds a Bachelor
of Arts (Honours) degree in literature from The University of Hong Kong
and a Master of Public Administration degree from the Syracuse University,
USA. He was formerly a member of the Legislative Council from 1985 to
2004 and was also the President of the Legislative Council from 1995 to
1997. Mr. Wong had been lecturing at the Chinese University of Hong
Kong since 1970 and is now retired.
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Biographical Details of Directors & Senior Management

E=ZkEHEEBER

Senior Management

Mr. But Wui Fai, Cyrus, aged 49, is an associated director (Project and
Sales) of the Group. Mr. But is responsible for management of project
commissioning of the group. With 26 years of experience in IT and RFID
industry on project management, systems design and implementation. Mr.
But had achieved numerous project assignments in government sectors,
public utilities, tertiary institutions and public listed companies. He worked
for 10 years in an IT consultancy company in Hong Kong before joining
the group in September 2001.

Ms. Yeung Yuen Chun, Mona, aged 43, is the Financial Controller and
associated director of the group. Ms. Yeung is responsible for managing
the group’s finance and accounting operations, performing statutory
and management reporting. Ms. Yeung has over 20 years in auditing,
accounting and financial analysis. She is an associate member of the
ICAEW and a fellow member of the ACCA and the HKICPA. She holds a
Bachelor Degree of Business Administration (Honours) in Accounting from
Hong Kong Baptist University.

Ms. Yeung Yee Ching, Posy, aged 36, is an associated director of the
group. Ms. Yeung is responsible the overall operation and knowledge
management functions of the company. With 12 years of experience
in product design and production management. She holds a degree of
Master of Philosophy and a degree of Bachelor of Engineering in Industrial
and Systems Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIE,

Management of the group has continued to utilise our professional and
committed workforce and financial resources to achieve maximum return
to our shareholders.

Business Review
During the year, our solution and professional services arm, ITE Smartcard

Solutions Limited (“ITES"),
contracts and orders by both new and old clients. The orders covered the

has been awarded with a number of new

supply of hardware and software and the provision of professional services
to expand or enhance their smartcard and RFID application platforms.

A contract was awarded by our new client, the Immigration Department
of HKSAR (“ImmD"), for the Provision of Design, Implementation, and
System Support and Maintenance for New Self-service Kiosks under the
Electronic Passport System of ImmD. Under the scope of contract, ITES
shall provide all hardware, software and related project management
and system integration services for the new generation self-service kiosks
of ImmD. Smart ID card, electronic passport, biometrics and payment
technologies and products are incorporated into the new system which
will be operated and maintained for more than ten years.

ITES also received a contract to design and supply a 24-hours self-service
book handling system for the Hong Kong Public Libraries (“HKPL") of
the Leisure and Cultural Services Department of HKSAR (“LCSD"). Three
units of fully automatic book handling system will be installed across the
territory to serve the general public. The introduction of this application
is an important milestone of the LCSD and HKSAR Government towards
Smart City Initiatives. Latest Smart ID card, Octopus payment, RFID and
Internet of Things technologies have been adopted into the system which
integrates with the library circulation system of the HKPL. ITE is very glad
to have the opportunity to pioneer this application and serve the people
of Hong Kong.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREHBEA

We also completed for our campus client, the Education University
of Hong Kong, the contract for the Supply and Installation of Hostel
Octopus Payment Air Conditioner System. Under the scope of contract,
ITES supplied and commissioned all hardware and software for Octopus
payment application of seven hundred fifty units of air conditioners across
three hostels of the campus. This new payment system is a networked
online system as compared with the old standalone Mifare smartmeter
system.

We also received new orders to provide system integration services for the
new electric vehicle fast charging stations of two local utility companies.
The system supports both CHAdeMO and European CCS standards of
electric vehicle.

Our R&D arm, RF Tech Limited, has been adding new hardware and
software libraries to our product family. Our continual efforts in innovation
and R&D have created and accumulated new intellectual property rights.
We were approved with a Patent Application Grant (“PAG") which is a
funding to assist local companies and individuals to apply for patents
of their own inventions. The PAG is administered by the Innovation and
Technology Commission of HKSAR (“ITC”) with Hong Kong Productivity
Council as the implementation agent. The PAG was used for patent
registration of our invention “Radio frequency identification card and
mobile phone interlinking embedded electronic payment apparatus and
methods”.

We are also very pleased to be awarded with a Certificate of Merit in
the 2016 Hong Kong Awards for Industries for our innovative product,
HOMAC SPM-10A Smart ePayment Meter, which is a very sophisticated
Smart City product. Leveraging on our extensive industry knowledge and
intellectual assets, we successfully developed and launched this intelligent
Smart ePayment Meter product which is the first of its kind and the most
advanced one in the world. Under the new parking meter system trial
of the Transport Department, SPM-10A has been in use in Yuen Long
and Mong Kok since October 2016 supporting hundreds of financial
transactions a day.
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Climate change has posed an unprecedented global challenge for
everyone. Being part of the international community, ITE shall contribute
to the solution. Jointly developed with the Automotive Parts and Accessory
Systems R&D Centre, the first mobilized electric vehicle charger in Hong
Kong is attracting interests. A public trial scheme was approved by the
ITC, and the mobile charger is expected to be on trial in early 2018.

ITE strives to assist our clients and the general public to enhance the
sustainability of Hong Kong through the provision of environmental
engineering solutions. During the year, we have significantly reduced our
own electricity consumption by more than twenty percentage through the
introduction of new LED lighting and air conditioning systems installed in
the new office.

[t is our core value that we never compromise on safety or quality and
have dedicated ourselves to a zero-harm and fault mind-set. Both our
subsidiaries, ITES and ITE Engineering Limited, successfully completed and
passed the ISO 9001:2008 Quality Assurance System audit carried out by
British Standards Institution (“BSI”). Both companies will be recommended
by BSI for the continual accreditation of ISO9001:2008 Certificates which
were first accredited to ITE in 2002.

For the sixth consecutive year, colleagues, families and friends of ITE
continued to support “Charity Walk 2017" of Suicide Prevention Services
("SPS") and achieved the fund-raising target. All donations will be used in
SPS services for serving people of all ages in Hong Kong who are suicidal,
in despair or emotionally distressed by befriending them, and offering
services to help them to regain control of their emotions and find the will
to carry on.

We also welcome new interns joining the group. They came from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University, The Chinese University of Hong Kong,
The City University of Hong Kong and Hong Kong Vocational Training
Council with different engineering disciplines ranging from computing,
information, mechanical,

electronic, system engineering and electrical

engineering. ITE has been supporting many training and internship
schemes for undergraduates since 2006. More than one hundred students
have gained solid experience and knowledge in their fields through actual

work responsibilities in ITE.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Future Prospect

Since our establishment, we have been focusing on our core business and
technologies, we continue to devote our efforts and resources for the long
term growth of the group building on our Innovation, Technology and
Excellency; three words which bestly explain ITE.

All members of the company performed professionally under the
corporate vision, mission and core value. Every year, new intellectual assets
are created, accumulated and protected, and the range of professional
services continues to expand to meet the fast growing needs of the
changing market. We have firmly maintained our position as the pure

rider to provide innovative solutions to our clients.

With improving efficiency and effectiveness, new product development
and professional services enhancement, the directors are optimistic that
our sustainability and profitability will continue to improve.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As far as the board of directors of the company and management are
aware, the group has complied in material respects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the group. During the year, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the group.

Financial Performance

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the group recorded a turnover of
approximately HK$22 million, representing a decrease of 8% over last
year. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the company for the year
ended 31 March 2017 was approximately HK$0.4 million as compared to
that of approximately HK$0.3 million for last year.

Segmental Information
During the year, the group recorded a decrease in turnover for about 8%

when compared with last year. However, the group’s gross profit margin
remained stable at 41%.
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The service revenue generated from core business, i.e. the provision of
the smartcard systems, RFID and information technology (“IT") services
and related sales, was HK$10,617,106 (2016: HK$11,318,269) which
decreased by 6%. Besides, the income from maintenance services
decreased by 3% to HK$11,580,006 (2016: HK$11,943,838).

The group’s administrative expenses decreased by 8% to HK$9,418,936
(2016: HK$10,186,386). The main reason of such decrease was the
related share-based payment expense amounted to HK$692,153 (2016:
HK$1,029,300) was fully recognized during the year. In addition, the
research and development cost and associated sponsorship was dropped
by 31% to HK$777,764 (2016: HK$1,123,377). Expenditure on research
and development activities was totally expensed in profit or loss during
the year.

During the year, the group maintained a healthy liquidity position and
therefore the finance costs was HK$Nil (2016: HK$Nil).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The group generally financed its operations with its internally generated
cash flows. At 31 March 2017, the group did not have any outstanding
borrowings. At 31 March 2017, the current ratio of the group was 3.24
(2016: 3.29) while the liquidity ratio was 3.01 (2016: 3.08).

The group continues to adopt a conservative approach in its treasury
policy. The group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing
ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of its customers.
Besides, the group’s liquidity and financing arrangements are also reviewed
regularly.

Taking into consideration the stringent cost control and the existing
financial resources available to the group, it is believed that the group
should have adequate financial resources to meet its operation,
development requirements and investments in the future.

Gearing Ratio

At 31 March 2017, the gearing ratio of the group, which is calculated as
the ratio of total borrowings to total equity, was Nil (2016: Nil).
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Treasury Policy

The group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the period under review. The group strives to reduce
exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and
evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity
risk, the board closely monitors the group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the group’s assets, liabilities and other

commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.
Significant Investments
The group had no significant investments during the year under review.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals of
Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies

During the year under review, the group had no acquisitions and disposals
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Employment Information

The group recognises that its staff is one of the group’s most important
assets. Aiming at providing competitive salary packages, the group
adjusts employees’ salary level in close association with the performance,
qualifications and experience of individual staff as well as labour market
conditions. In addition to the regular remuneration, discretionary bonus
and share options may be awarded to eligible employees with reference
to individual performance and the group’s business performance.

The group enjoys good relations with its staff and has not experienced any
disruption of operations due to major labour disputes. In addition to the
remuneration as mentioned above, the group also provides fringe benefits
which comply with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC and Hong
Kong including contributions to the Social Security Scheme in the PRC and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong. Besides, the group
also provides on-going training programmes for its employees to keep
them abreast of the latest market trends and new technologies.
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At 31 March 2017, the group had 50 (2016: 55) full-time employees,
of which 46 (2016: 51) are based in Hong Kong and the rest are in
the PRC and Macao. Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration, was
approximately HK$13 million (2016: HK$15 million) for the year ended 31
March 2017. On 6 December 2016, the company had granted 14,650,000
share options to its directors and employees, of which 1,150,000 share
options were lapsed afterwards due to resignation of relevant employees.

Charges on Group Assets

At 31 March 2017, HK$2,000,274 time deposit (2016: HK$2,000,170)
was pledged to a bank to secure certain banking facilities of a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the company.

Future Plans for Material Investments

The group did not have any plans for material investment and acquisition
of material capital assets as at 31 March 2017.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

The group’s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are mainly
denominated in HK$, United States dollars (“US$"),
("MOP") and Renminbi (“RMB"). The exchange rates between HK$, USS$,
MOP and RMB have been very steady for the past few years. During the

Macao Patacas

year, the group generally used the receipts from customers to pay its
suppliers and meet its capital requirements. They are denominated in the
local currency of the place in which the subsidiaries operate. The group
does not currently engage in hedging to manage possible exchange
rate risk as the group considers the cost associated with such hedging
arrangements would exceed the benefits. However, management will
continue to monitor the possible exposure to exchange rate risk and will
take such measures as it deems prudent.

Contingent Liability

At 31 March 2017, the company did not have any contingent liability.
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The company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasising transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility and
fairness. The board ensures that effective self-regulatory practices exist to
protect the interests of the shareholders of the company.

The company has applied the principles and complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
contained in Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Growth Enterprises Market of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "GEM Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 March
2017, save for the deviations discussed below.

Under the code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set
out in writing.

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent is both the chairman and chief executive
officer of the company who is responsible for managing the board and
the group’s business. Mr. Lau has been both chairman and chief executive
officer of the company since its incorporation. The board considers that,
with the present board structure and scope of business of the group,
there is no imminent need to separate the roles into two individuals as
Mr. Lau is perfectly capable of distinguishing the priority of these roles
in which he has been acting. However, the board will continue to review
the effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance structure to assess
whether the separation of the positions of chairman and chief executive
officer is necessary.

Under the code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. However,
the non-executive directors do not have a specific term of appointment,
but are subject to rotation in accordance with the articles of association of
the company.
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The company has not arranged any insurance coverage for the directors’
liabilities in respect of any potential legal actions against the directors.
Given the nature of the company’s business, directors believe that the
occurring of legal actions against the directors is very slight, and the
company still can achieve excellent corporate government through various
management and monitoring mechanism so as to reduce such risks, such
as periodic review on the effectiveness of internal control system, clear
division of duties and providing training for staffs and the management.
The board will review, on a regular basis, the necessity to arrange
insurance cover for potential legal actions against the directors.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2017. Having made specific
enquiry of all directors, the directors have complied with such code of
conduct and the required standard of dealings throughout the year ended
31 March 2017.

Board of Directors and Board Meeting

The board which currently comprises three executive directors and
three independent non-executive directors, is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and business development of the group. Details of
the directors are set in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report. All directors give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the group. To the best knowledge of the board,
there is no financial, business and family relationship among the members
of the board except that Mr. Liu Hoi Wah is the younger brother of Mr.
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.
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The independent non-executive directors, Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen and Mr.
Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, have been serving the board as independent
non-executive directors for more than nine years and have consistently
demonstrated their willingness to exercise independent judgments
and provide objective challenges to management. They have actively
participated in board meetings and board committee meetings held
during the year and have shown themselves able to give constructive and
independent advice to the board over significant issues. Therefore, the
board considers that both of them remain independent, notwithstanding
the length of their tenure as independent non-executive directors.

All independent non-executive directors, do not have any business or
significant financial interests with the group and each of them have
confirmed their independence to the group pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Based on the above-mentioned, the board considers
that all independent non-executive directors are independent as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.

With the various experience of both the executive directors and the
independent non-executive directors and the nature of the group’s
business, the board considers that the directors have a balance of skills
and experience for the business of the group.

All directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All
directors have been updated on the latest developments regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. Continuing briefings and professional development to directors
will be arranged wherever necessary.

The board meets regularly at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. Such regular meetings will normally involve the active
participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of directors entitled to be present. When
directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will
be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to
present their views to the chairman prior to the meeting.
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During the year ended 31 March 2017, four board meetings were held
and the following is an attendance record of the meetings by each
director.

Attendance
Executive directors
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 4/4
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 4/4
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 2/4
Mr. George Roger Manho (retired on 8 August 2016) 0/0
Independent non-executive directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 4/4
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 4/4
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew 2/4

During regular meetings of the board, the directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the group, monitor financial performances and
discuss the annual, interim and quarterly results, as well as discuss and
decide on other significant matters. Execution of daily operational matters
is delegated to management.

Notice of regular board meeting is usually given at least 14 days in
advances to give all directors an opportunity to attend. An agenda for
each board meeting will be prepared and normally distributed to the
directors together with necessary board papers and related materials at
least four days before the board meeting. Directors are free to add any
items on the agenda as they may think fit. The company secretary is
responsible for recording the matters considered and decisions reached by
the board including any concerns or dissenting views raised by directors.
Minutes of board meetings and the board committees meetings will be
sent to all directors for their comments and records as soon as after the
board meeting.
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Minutes of board meetings and board committees meetings are kept by
the company secretary and such minutes are open for inspection within
reasonable advance notice.

All directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information or retain independent professional advisors
if necessary. They also have unrestricted access to the advice and service
of the company secretary, who is responsible for providing directors with
board papers and related materials and ensuring that board procedures
are followed.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder
or director arise, the matter is discussed in an actual meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. Independent non-executive
directors with no conflict of interest are present at meetings dealing with
conflict issues. Board committees, including the Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees, all follow the applicable practices and procedures

used in board meetings for committee meetings.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.
The company did not segregate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. The role of the chief executive officer was performed by
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, who was the then existing chairman of the
company during the year under review. Apart from the reason of such
deviation mentioned above, the board also believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person provides
the company with strong and consistent leadership, and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions
and strategies.

The board will periodically review the merits and demerits of such
management structure and will adopt such appropriate measures as may
be necessary in the future taking into consideration of the nature and
extent of the group’s operation.
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Audit Committee

The company has established an audit committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive directors,
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen (being the chairman of the audit committee), Mr.
Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the company’s
annual report and accounts, half-yearly report and quarterly reports
and to provide advices and comments thereon to the board. The audit
committee meets at least four times a year with management to review
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the group and to
discuss auditing, financial reporting matters, internal control and also
risk management system. The principal terms of reference includes, inter
alia, its relationship with the company’s external auditor, review of the
company’s financial information and oversight of the financial reporting
system and internal control procedures of the company.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, four audit committee meetings
were held and the following is an attendance record of the meetings by
each director.

Name of directors Attendance
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 4/4
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 4/4
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew 2/4

The group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 have
been reviewed by the audit committee, who is of the opinion that such
statements comply with the applicable accounting standards, the GEM
Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures had
been made.
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Remuneration Committee

The company established a remuneration committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code. The roles and functions of
the remuneration committee include the determination of the specific
remuneration packages of all executive directors and senior management
of the company, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, such as any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment, and make recommendations
to the board of the remuneration of non-executive directors. Members
of the remuneration committee include Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Kam
Hau Choi, Anthony, Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew and Mr. Lau Hon
Kwong, Vincent, with Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen as chairman. A majority of
the votes in the remuneration committee are exercisable by independent
non-executive directors. No director will be involved in any discussion in

connection with his own remuneration.

The remuneration committee schedules meet at least once a year. During
the year, one remuneration committee meeting was held to review the
remuneration packages of executive directors and the directors’ fees of the
independent non-executive directors and the following is an attendance
record of the meeting by each director.

Name of directors Attendance
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 11
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 71
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew 0/1
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 1/1

Nomination Committee

The company established a nomination committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code. Members of the nomination
committee include Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony,
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, with Dr.
Lee Peng Fei, Allen as chairman.
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The nomination committee shall meet before the annual general meeting
of the company, or at other times as required by the chairman of the
nomination committee.

The roles and functions of the nomination committee include the
appointment and removal of directors, reviews the background,
experience, qualification, general market conditions and the company’s
articles of association in selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship.

During the year, one nomination committee meeting was held and the
following is an attendance record of the meeting by each director.

Name of directors Attendance
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 11
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 11
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew 71
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 1/1

During the meeting, members considered and resolved that all the existing
directors shall be recommended to be retained by the company. Further,
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent and Mr. Cheng
Kwok Hung will retire from the board in accordance with Article 108 of
the company’s articles of association at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparation of the
financial statements of the group and ensure that the financial statements
are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the group.

The statements of external auditor of the company, Baker Tilly Hong Kong
Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
of the group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 46
to 51 of this annual report.
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Internal Control and Risk Management

The board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and review of
the group’s risk management and internal control system. To facilities the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations and to ensure compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, the group emphasizes on the importance of
a sound internal control system which is also indispensable for mitigating
the group’s risk exposures. A sound and effective internal control
system is designed for (i) safeguarding the interests of shareholders; (ii)
safeguarding assets of the group against misappropriation; (iii) ensuring
proper maintenance of accounting records for the provision of reliable
financial information; and (iv) ensuring compliance with the relevant
laws, regulations, and internal policies. Such system of internal control
is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage and eliminate risks of failure
in operational systems and fulfilment of the business objectives.

The internal control policies and procedures mainly cover areas of finance,
operations and compliance. The company shall conduct an annual review
of the internal control policies and procedures to assess its effectiveness
and shall make recommendations to the board if any significant areas of
concern are identified.

During the year, the board, through the audit committee, has assessed
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the group including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
staff

qualifications and experience, training programmes, and budget of the

functions and has considered the adequacy of resources,

group’s accounting and financial reporting function. The board is satisfied
that, the present system of internal control is effective. The group does
not have an internal audit function and does not see the need to have

one.
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The group’s risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The board has the overall
responsibility to maintain the adequacies of resources, staff qualifications
and experience training programs and budget of accounting and
financial reporting function and the board concluded that the group’s risk

management and internal control systems were in place and effective.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information, the
group has adopted a policy on disclosure of inside information with the
aim to ensure the insiders are abiding by the confidentiality requirement
and are fulfilling the disclosure obligation of the inside information.

Company Secretary

The company secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional trainings to update her skills and knowledge during the year.

External Auditors

The audit committee is responsible for considering the appointment of
the external auditors and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by
the external auditors of the group. In particular, the audit committee will
consider, in advance of them being contracted for such service, whether
such non-audit service could lead to any potential material conflict of
interest. Nothing has come to its attention to cause the audit committee
to believe that the non-audit services provided by the external auditors
affect their independence, objectivity and effectiveness in the audit
process in accordance with applicable standard.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the fee payable to the auditors in
respect of audit services amounted to HK$361,000 while the fee payable
to the auditors in respect of non-audit services relating to the taxation
amounted to HK$30,500.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting and to Put Forward Proposal

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law
(2012 Revision). However, shareholders are requested to follow article
64 of the Articles of Association of the company, general meetings shall
be convened on the written requisition of any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the board or the secretary of the company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisition(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for election as a
director of the company are laid down in article 113 of the company’s
Articles of Association. No person other than a director retiring at the
meeting shall, unless recommended by the board for election, be eligible
for election to the office of director at any general meeting unless a
notice in writing of the intention to propose such person for election as a
director, signed by a shareholder (other than the person to be proposed
for election as a director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such
person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head
office or at the Registration Office. The minimum length of the period
during which such notices are given shall be at least seven (7) days and
the period for lodgement of such notices shall commence no earlier than
the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of
such general meeting.
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Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the board, shareholders may send
written enquiries to the company. Shareholders may send their enquiries
or requests in respect of their rights to the company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

Communication with Shareholders

The board is committed to maintaining an ongoing and transparent
communication with all shareholders. The directors host annual general
meeting each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries.
The company uses various communication channels, such as publication
of annual and quarterly reports, press announcements and circulars,
to update the shareholders on the group’s business developments and
financial performance. Such information is also available on the company’s
website: http://www.hkite.com.

Constitutional Documents

During the year, there is no change in the company’s constitutional
documents.
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Our Vision

The group aspires to continue to be an industry leader by maximizing
long-term value for society in terms of our economic performance and the

positive social and environmental impacts of our operations.
Environmental measure and performance
Electricity Consumption

The group has formulated our environmental measure with a focus on
ensuring full compliance with applicable legislation and requirements by
promoting environmental awareness among staff, disposing waste in an
environmentally responsible way, and reusing and recycling equipment
and materials.

Renovating and upgrading existing hardware can generate both
environmental and cost reduction benefits. The group continuously
monitors and reviews the effectiveness and performance of our appliances,
replacing any dated or inefficient systems with up-to-date energy saving
technology.

During the year, we replaced all LED lighting and air-conditioning system
with “Grade 1" energy label. We have successfully reduced by more than

twenty percentage annual office energy consumption in the fiscal year.
Social Responsibility
Charity and Social Responsibility

ITE is one of the sponsors for The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
Students’” Union Chinese Orchestra (“HKPUSUCO"). HKPUSUCO was
established in 1973 for more than 40 years and is one of the oldest and
largest Chinese music groups in Hong Kong's tertiary institutions. They are
now about 70 members. HKPUSUCO adheres to the promotion of Chinese
Music as well as the purpose of the popularization of it. The HKPUSUCO
provides the Chinese musical instruments training, engagement of Chinese
music performances and the opportunities for public to appreciate the
performances. The Chinese Music concerts, ensembles and exchange are
held, and supported by music lovers each time. The HKPUSUCO 34th
Annual performance was held at Tsuen Wan Town Hall Auditorium on
Saturday night, 18 March, 2017.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Colleagues and friends of ITE continued to support social caring activities.
We participated in the “Charity Walk 2017" of Suicide Prevention Services
("SPS") and achieved our fund-raising target. All donations will be used
in SPS services for serving people of ages in Hong Kong who are suicidal,
in despair or emotionally distressed by befriending them, and offering
services to help them to regain control of their emotions and find the
will to carry on. We also welcome new interns joining the group. They
came from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, The City University
of Hong Kong, The Chinese University of Hong Kong and Vocational
Training Council with different engineering disciplines ranging from
computing, electronic, information, and mechanical engineering. ITE has
been supporting internship program for university undergraduates since
2006. We have assisted over 100 students to gain solid experience and
knowledge in their fields through actual work responsibilities.

Employment and Labour Practices

In relation to the human resources, the group is committed to complying
with ordinances relating to disability, sex, family status and race
discrimination, as well as the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum Wage
Ordinance and ordinance relating to occupational safety of employees
of the group, so as to safeguard the interests and well-being of our
employees.

The group is also committed to safeguarding the security of personal data.
When collecting and processing such data, the group complies with the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and guidelines issued by the Office of
the Privacy Commissioner for Personal Data, with a view to protecting the
privacy of our employees and customers. The operation team of the group
in the PRC and Macao also comply with the related laws and regulations
in the PRC and Macao.

Health and Safety

Safe and effective workplace and policies are provided. Every employee is
encouraged to enhance workplace safety.
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Training Scheme

Each department is responsible for setting and developing their own
training programmes not only to meet the specific business requirements,
but also to build up the on-going skills and career development of our
staff.

Anti-corruption

The group established a strong internal control to institute a vigorous
enforcement regime against corruption and fraud. A strong anti-corruption
and anti-fraud culture is a vital part of the overall governance framework
of the group. We are committed to mobilize resources to safeguard the
assets and interests of our shareholders.

ESG risks within our supply chain are addressed through strict contractual
and tender requirements. We also maintain a list of preferred suppliers so
as to ensure the timely and efficient delivery of the products and services

we require.

As the demand for skills and talent specific to our sector continues to
increase, competition poses the risk of employee turnover. We address
this risk by providing our employees with training opportunities and
competitive benefits, creating loyalty while cultivating their professional
development.
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The directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2017.

Principal activities

The principal activity of ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) is
investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Segment information

Details of the segment reporting in respect of the analysis of the principal
activities and geographical locations of the operations of the company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “group”) during the financial
year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business review

Details of business review information are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 13 to 19 of this annual
report.

Major customers and suppliers
The information in respect of the group’s revenue and purchases

attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:
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Percentage of the group’s total

HREBAEEIL
Revenue Purchases
Wz g
The largest customer RAEP 12% -
Five largest customers in aggregate hARE BT 55% -
The largest supplier BAHIER - 14%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AR ARET - 46%

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.
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Dividend

Final dividend of HK$0.25 cents per share in respect of year ended 31
March 2015, which was approved by the shareholders of the company on
10 August 2015, was paid during the year ended 31 March 2016.

No interim dividend was declared and paid during the year. The directors
do not recommend the payment any dividend in respect of the year ended
31 March 2017 and 2016.

Charitable donations

Charitable donations made by the group during the year amounted to
HK$6,000 (2016: HK$8,300).

Share capital

Details of the movements in the share capital of the company are set out

in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the company’s
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such rights
under the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

Directors

The directors who held office during the financial year and up to the date
of this report were:

The company

Executive directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah

Mr. George Roger Manho (Retired on 8 August 2016)
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Independent non-executive directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew

In accordance with Article 108 of the company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent will retire
from the board by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

The list of directors who have served on the board of directors in the
subsidiaries of the company during the financial year and up to the date
of this report is as follows:

Mr. But Wui Fai

Ms. Lau Yuet Ping

Ms. Yeung Yee Ching

Ms. Yeung Yuen Chun, Mona

Directors’ service contracts

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi
Wah have entered into service contracts with the company on 3 March
2014 for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 1 April 2014
which will continue thereafter until terminated by three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. George Roger Manho has entered into a service contract with
the company on 1 January 2014 for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from 1 January 2014 until terminated by three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other. Mr. George Roger
Manho was retired on 8 August 2016.

Except for the above, none of the directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is
not determinable by the company, or any of its subsidiaries, within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.
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Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures

At 31 March 2017, the interests and short positions of each director
and chief executive of the company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")), which were notified to the company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including any interests and short positions
which they have taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the
“"GEM Listing Rules”), to be notified to the company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

EERTHRARRESG - HERORE
SERNERR AR

RZZE—tF=ZR=+—0 ARARSEFRITHEHR
BEHFLBEGROEI57TREISSENETE - AARIRE
TR A E (EE R GEHFRBEEND) (TFBIEA]) &
TR MBHEARNRRZZHAOKRG - ARG RE
HFHEANERSAR (BIEREE GO Z SR EHR
RARIERANERIOAE) - MBI AREE R EOE
32T AGFENELMA - SRIEAIZER ERAIZE5.46
Z5.68GFTHE MR AN BRE AN A A KA 5 P60 #E & ok
BHEIIMT

(I)  Interests in issued shares of the company: () ZAIFHRHOES
Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
BRO.OIEBTEBRRE
Percentage
Personal Corporate Family Other of total
Name of director interests interests interests interests Total  issued shares
HERITRE
EENE B ARz NGL £ RikER HAtiEs &5t BAE
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 6,108,000 (L) 241,102,348 (L) - - 247,210,348 (L) 26.71%
FEREE (Note 2) (Fif&F2)
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 117,392,000 (L) - - - 117,392,000 (L) 12.68%
BB
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 1,760,000 (L) - - - 1,760,000 (L) 0.19%
FIERIEL
Notes: MizE -
1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares. 1. L] FRRBRDBIE -
2. These shares are beneficially owned by Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited (“Rax- 2. VL SR B — 5RO S BE 0B & P B A B Rax-

Comm”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Mr. Lau
Hon Kwong, Vincent held 76.39% of the entire issued share capital of
Rax-Comm.
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(I Interests in equity derivatives (as defined in the () RIFEBERZZHEROGITEIENE
SFO) in, or in respect of, underlying shares mw (ERREZBHRA)
As at 31 March 2017, the directors had the following personal RZE—tF=ZA=+—0 ' RRRESEREL
interests in options to subscribe for shares of the company granted NABREASIAVETHER KL AIREARQF]
at HK$1 under a share option scheme of the company. Each R HEREREE A THREAEZ - SIRERE
option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one share. AIERE ARE KRG -
Number of
Number of shares acquired  Price per share
options Period during on exercise of to be paid
outstanding at which options options during on exercise
Name of Director 31 March 2017  Date granted exercisable the year of options
RZB—t&
=A=t+-H FRTHE TRBRE
fef RATBERY BREm RS BAXN
Expns BREHE REAH fE R AEAT B HROEE NERER
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 900,000 (L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
BERLE 900,000 () Z=ZE—RET=ARAE “E-tEXARAZE 0.146/57T
—Z-—-5¥/\AtAH
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 900,000 (L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to HK$0.146
7 August 2021
BEEEE 900,000 () Z—ZT—AF+ZAAXE “Z—+5XARAZE 0.146%7T
—E-—-¥/\AtH
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 900,000 (L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to HK$0.146
7 August 2021
BEERLE 900,000 (1) —F—RFT-ARE —E—tEAARRE 014638 T
T -FEAAtH
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Number of
Number of shares acquired ~ Price per share
options Period during on exercise of to be paid
outstanding at which options options during on exercise
Name of Director 31 March 2017  Date granted exercisable the year of options
R-B-tF
=A=t-H R TEBRE
i RATEEHY BREMAR BARN
EEpg BREHE RHEH BRETES HRHHE NERER
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 900,000 (L) 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to - HK$0.154
7 August 2021
FHEREL 900,000 () ZE—RF+ANR T RE-AnRZ - 0.154/87T
“E-—5\RtA
900,000 (L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
900,000 () =—Z—AF+=AAAB “E+tERARRE - 0.146/8 7T
—Z—%5\RtH
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 900,000 (L) 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to - HK$0.154
7 August 2021
EESpd 900,000 () =ZT-EF+ANE “E-RE-ANRE - 0.1547%7T
—E-—%5)\RtAH
900,000 (L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
900,000 () =T A~F+ZAA —E—+FAREE - 0.1467%7T
—Z_—%/\AtH
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew 900,000 (L) 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to - HK$0.154
7 August 2021
BRERE 900,000 () Z=ZE—RF+ANA “E-RE-ANRE - 0.154/8 7T
—Z--%¥/\AtAH
900,000 (L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
900,000 (1) —Z—R"EFE+=ARH “T—tE AREE - 0.146/57T
—Z--¥/\AtH

Note:  The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares.
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()  Aggregate interest in the shares and underlying (Ill) ZANDF IR RAAERGOWETEDS
shares of the company

Aggregate

Aggregate number in Percentage

number in underlying of total

Name of Director ordinary shares shares Total issued shares

LR N

BRITRAE

EEpnE EERAEE HER M AT ast B

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 247,210,348 (L) 900,000 (L) 248,110,348 (L) 26.81%
B ea

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 117,392,000 (L) 900,000 (L) 118,292,000 (L) 12.78%
SR S

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah - 900,000 (L) 900,000 (L) 0.10%
BgERE

Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 1,760,000 (L) 1,800,000 (L) 3,560,000 (L) 0.38%
FRERE L

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony - 1,800,000 (L) 1,800,000 (L) 0.19%
BIZ8

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew - 1,800,000 (L) 1,800,000 (L) 0.19%
HmERERE

Note:  The letter “L" denotes a long position in the shares. MizE - TL] PREABROBITE -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, none of the directors, K EMMAHFEIN R-FT—ELF=A=+—H EF 17
chief executive of the company or their associates had any interests — ERAEH K F BT A THBIBIZRE RGPS 15.7/215.8
in the shares or debentures of, or short positions in the shares of, the &I AR B HFMARRER (F#H R EHGDIE+RAL)
company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of ~#ARMHAEFNEEIXR (BERIBEBHEIINZER
Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the company and ~ ER B AR EREGNEEIAR) - ROBEFAREFHE
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO,  f&PIF352{& T A FENERMA - SARFEAIZER ETHRERI
including interests or short positions which they have taken or deemed  %5.46%5.68{FFAHEI AR AL BHE AR E R 5 FTHIE
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO, or which were required, Az SAA -

pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred

to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the

GEM Listing Rules, were required to be notified to the company and the

Stock Exchange.
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Directors’ and chief executive’s rights to acquire
shares or debt securities

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”, at no time during the year was the company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors and chief
executive of the company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities, including debentures, of the company or
any other body corporate, and none of the directors and chief executive
of the company or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
right to subscribe for the securities of the company, or had exercised any
such rights.

Interests and short positions of shareholders in
the shares and underlying shares

At 31 March 2017, the following persons, other than a director or chief
executive of the company, had interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known to any
director or chief executive of the company:

Name of shareholder

%%&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%%
F

BRUA Lt [ E RATIRAERERD « ARG REFAES
BRE s MoK R | PR EESN - RER - AR B AN E
NREBES TR EARRESERITRERTEE
BAXRRSEMEMEABBORNDREBES (BRE
%) MESHZ MARREZRITRAHIWENERE
AT AR+ N\ BR B F LA R AT R AR A R A A0
F o IREITE AR SR -

ERHARHI TRRARBENES AR

St

RoF—tE=A=+—8  REBHEDIEBEETAT
BireBRMAHRAEAAADEFRTRERAL
FHAL (RARNEERTRARBI) RAATQRE R
TR A A R

Number of Percentage of

ordinary shares held  total issued shares

FrsEBER HEBITRAD
BRERME KGR WEDLE
Rax-Comm (note 1) 241,102,348 26.05%
Rax-Comm (Ff&E1)
Mr. George Roger Manho (note 2) 63,142,254 6.82%
BE#LEE (FHiE2)
Notes: iiEsd
1. These shares have been disclosed as the corporate interests of the relevant 1. ZEBRMON [EFERITBAIBNRN - RN RES
directors in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and EENRERAR | —HREABHESNO RS -
short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures”.
2. Mr. George Roger Manho had retired by rotation as executive director of the 2. BEEEER-_F-AFNANBNBRRBFREL B

company at the annual general meeting held on 8 August 2016 in accordance
with the memorandum and articles of association of the company.
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Save as disclosed above, the company had not been notified of any other
person, other than directors or the chief executive of the company, who
had an interest or a short position in the shares and underlying shares
of the company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and so far is known to any
director or chief executive of the company as at 31 March 2017.

Share option scheme

Details of the company’s share option scheme are set out in note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Purchase, sale and redemption of shares of the
company

During the year, the company repurchased a total of 1,848,000 shares of
HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the company on the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the general mandates granted by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting of the company held on 8 August 2016, details of
which were as follows:

No. of shares

Directors’ Report
EEEWE

BEXHEEN RZE—tF=A=1+—R BREEZE
HEPI336E T AT BTN ELMAS MM AR R EEHIT
A ARRAEBERFEMAL (RARESHITHR
AN EARD R RARRIR O P A S ROAR

BRESE

AR BB BB RN AR & BT R M 726 -

BE - HERBEERAQTRS

FR - ARBBRER_ZE—R"ENANBRTHREBRF
AELEREERTESTHEERON—REBE RIXZHME
O E A% EEBH0.017T4 31,848,000/ f& (D » =FEMT -

Price per share repurchased
BRRGER Total

consideration

repurchased Highest Lowest (before expenses)

Date of repurchase [ AEN=k: BERDEE BS BE RE#E CREHEX)
HK$# 7T HK$ATT HK$# 7T

19 September 2016 —E-REARTNE 500,000 0.150 0.150 75,000
6 October 2016 —E—XRF+ARH 700,000 0.149 0.142 102,900
22 March 2017 —ET—+F=ZA=-+=H 648,000 0.133 0.133 86,184
1,848,000 264,084

All shares repurchased would be cancelled subsequently and accordingly
the company’s issued share capital was reduced by the nominal value
of these shares. The repurchases were effected for the benefit of the
shareholders as a whole by enhancing the net assets and earnings per
share of the company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the company’s shares during the year.
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Directors’ interests in contracts of significance

No contract of significance to which the company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a director of the company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

Permitted indemnity provision

At no time during the year and up to date of this annual report, there
was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit
of the directors (whether made by the company or otherwise) or of the
directors of the company’s subsidiaries (if made by the company).

Management contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the company were
entered into or in existence during the year.

Connected transactions

There were no transactions which should be disclosed in the annual report
as connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Five year summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 110 of the annual report.

Emolument policy
The emolument policy for the employees of the group is set up by the

remuneration committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.
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The emoluments of the directors of the company are decided by the
remuneration committee, having regard to the group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The company has adopted share option scheme as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme are set out in note
26 to the consolidated financial statements.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information available to the company and within the
knowledge and belief of the directors of the company, the company has
maintained at least the prescribed amount of minimum public float during
the year and up to the date of this report as required under the GEM
Listing Rules.

Confirmation of independence

The company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all of the independent non-
executive directors are independent.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017
have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited. A resolution will be
submitted at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the company
to re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as auditor of the company.

There has been no change in the auditor of the company in the recent
three years.

By order of the board

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Hong Kong, 9 June 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AR 2 SR e

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
ITE (Holdings) Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ITE (Holdings)
Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as, the “group”) set
out on pages 52 to 109, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2017, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the group as at 31 March
2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AR EIE S

Key audit matter
BEREXRSEE

How the matter addressed in our audit
EEETERRNMNEERRBENER

Revenue recognition on service contracts FRIE& IR ATER

Refer to notes 2(h) and 2(q) to the consolidated financial statements for the accounting policies and refer to note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements for detailed disclosures
BESHRAMBERRME2(h)R2(qQMEFBERRAE M BERRMTANFEARE

Revenue and costs of smartcard systems, RFID and IT services
contracts are recognised by reference to the stage of completion
of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period.

The stage of completion requires the management to estimate
the total contract costs expected to be incurred in completing
each of the contracts undertaken by the group.

Revenue is one of the key performance indicators for the group.
It is significant to the consolidated financial statements and
requires judgements in applying the percentage of completion
method for recognising revenue from related service contracts.
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Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

— Discussing with the responsible project leaders in respect of
the preparation of approved budgets and the determination
of stage of completion as at end of the reporting period;

— Checking and testing, on a sampling basis, the contract
sum and budgeted costs to the signed service contracts
and approved budgets, and on a sampling basis, checking
to actual costs incurred, progress billings to date and any
provisions for any foreseeable losses as at the end of the
reporting period; and

— Evaluating and assessing management’s estimates in their
determination of, among other matters, the percentage of
completion of the service contracts, actual costs incurred to
date, estimated costs to completion and provisions for loss
making contracts.

We found the revenue recognised to be supported by the
available audit evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AR EIE S

Key audit matter
BRERSEE

How the matter addressed in our audit
EEETERRNAEERRENEE

Recoverability of trade and other receivables & 5 & H1th fE Ik i & 7T Uk D 72 2

the consolidated financial statements for detailed disclosures
ESHGREMBERRMTF2() R2()()NEHBREGESHBERRMF17THHAREE

Refer to notes 2(g) and 2(j)(i) to the consolidated financial statements for the accounting policies and refer to note 17 to

The balances of trade and other receivables are significant to the
consolidated financial statements. Assessing to what extent trade
and other receivables are collectable involves a significant degree
of management judgement.

In determining whether impairment adjustments on trade and
other receivables are required, the group takes into consideration
current creditworthiness, past collection history, ageing status
and their likelihood of collection. Any deterioration of the
financial condition of customers of the group, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments, means additional
impairment adjustments may be required.

BS5REMBRIREHEGAMBHRERMEBEEN - EEEH M
Hofth FE YR 10 R YR (@A 05 % I B

B 5 REMBUIRERAERGELRER  EEESEROMHE
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Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

— Testing on a sampling basis, the accuracy of ageing profiles
of trade receivables by checking to the underlying sales
invoices and the basis of progress billing by reference to

contract terms;

- Reviewing management’s assessment process and
judgements regarding recoverability of trade and other
receivables; and

— Assessing the reasonableness of such judgements by taking
into account the ageing analysis of receivables at the end of
the reporting period and the status of subsequent settlement,
as well as the recent creditworthiness of the debtor.

We found estimations and judgements made by management in
respect of the collectability of receivables were consistent with
available evidence.
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Information Other than the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report
Thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information in the annual report, other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon
(the “other information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the group’s financial

reporting process.
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AR EIE S

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and, obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 9 June 2017

Choi Kwong Yu

Practising Certificate number P05071

ANNUAL REPORT 2016-2017 F%&

Independent Auditor’s Report
AR EIE S

- AR M BEHRROBEE2HI X - BBRAS
BREKREER  URGEHBRERE .:?EP%‘&BQQE
BARX S FNEIH o

- # BEERNERRERGHHNIIEERERRT R
RBENERNTERE UAEHESUBRREXRE
R BERAESEESNIMN  EENHNT - BF
REGERAEZIEE -

EERERZE SR (EPER) EE38E R
HRBEABTHERETER RTRACREFEETBE
T2 BRI B A AR BV (E (AT R R 2K ©

Ik

o St
M%E‘

EREERELER BHESENEEREIL
ﬁ BEXR WRREBBALKSERRITE
MEETBRRE R 1B - A RARRIFG S5 (40

=

o

B &S

i O

i

BZEBEBBHNERYT EEHAHARES M
WET = Fﬁéxﬂ’]%lﬁ Iﬁﬁ%ﬁzf%i%ﬁ$lﬁ°
% 2R WM EFH  BIPERIOERATA
%IE HEFEHRFERLHBERT - WEER
BEPEBRERERNNEERRBHELEND
T AIEERETEERSTEEZFR -

&

oo B
# &
RS

5
R
s
7
w

ABERETMEBAERAA
HE2EHRD
BEE —ZF—
£
H¥E

TFERNANE

ZE5RP05071

51



Consolioated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FeRaMEMEANG R

For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZ=F—+F=A=+—RILFE CAETIIE

Note 2017 = ZE—+F 2016 —Z—/ 4F

B = HK$#E T HK$E 7T
Revenue g 4 22,348,653 24,169,306
Cost of services rendered B ARSI AR (12,968,617) (14,028,575)
Cost of sales EEEWHIAA (211,584) (188,462)
Gross profit EF 9,168,452 9,952,269
Other income and other gains, net LAt YA R E A K A 5 633,162 564,442
Administrative expenses THER (9,418,936) (10,186,386)
Share of loss of an associate JE(LESE A R ETE 14 (139) (1,010)
Profit before taxation BrBR A=A 6 382,539 329,315
Income tax Frig %5 7(a) = -
Profit for the year attributable to FRARATHEE AFREMEEF
owners of the company 382,539 329,315
Other comprehensive (expense)/ FREMEE (ZH) WA
income for the year
[tem that may be reclassified subsequently HEi&a[geEFHIEE
to profit or loss: 1BaIEE
— Exchange differences on translation of — — JBYNEFEHIRE =28 -
foreign operations, net of nil tax ENIERFEE (8,555) 94,024
Total comprehensive income FAREB AL
for the year 373,984 423,339
Earnings per share sRER 11
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BEARRESE (BL) 0.04 0.04

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated — Ff#SEMT T B4R I Z 454 BTG R B9 — 2B ©
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

=)

7

FTR

As at 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong doIIars T ‘tﬁ A=1+—8 (A#THIE
Note 2017 —2—tF 2016 ZZF—R4F
Pt HK$& T HK$E7T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENE&E 13 488,312 125,113
Interest in an associate il /N e e 14 = =
Goodwill [EES 15 - -
488,312 125,113
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 16 1,305,735 1,122,696
Trade and other receivables FEUTE 55 Ko H i FE YR 3K 17 8,591,586 6,184,522
Loans to an associate /NN = N 18 200,000 200,000
Financial assets at fair value through BERERIRIE AT ERER
profit or loss TRIBE 19 1,675,370 1,764,630
Income tax recoverable AU B FT 1SR 20 7,547 158,912
Pledged bank deposits BEEARITIFER 21 2,000,274 2,000,170
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRSEEY 21 4,520,335 6,121,320
18,300,847 17,552,250
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 K oA FE AT R 5K 22 5,229,914 4,852,487
Provisions B 23 416,185 482,093
5,646,099 5,334,580
Net current assets REEEZE 12,654,748 12,217,670
Net assets BEEFE 13,143,060 12,342,783
Capital and reserves BEARK#E 27
Share capital [N 9,255,080 9,273,560
Reserves & 3,887,980 3,069,223
Total equity MRS 13,143,060 12,342,783
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 9 June EBFEEN T —FNANBRERRETE -
2017.
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Cheng Kwok Hung BN ERER 7
Director Director o= o

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SR REEEE

For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=ZF—+F=A=1+—HILtFE UABTIIE)

Attributable to owners of the company

ARRERAELRE
Share Share Merger Exchange  Shareoption  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses equity
& R EE iR AEENRE  BRERE ES) fh
HKSA T HKSA T HKSA T HKS$E T HKSFE T HSET — HKSET
Note (note 270)()) ~ (note 27(0)(i))  (note 27(o)(i))  (note 27(b)(iv)
fist (KaE27on)  (Heszomold)  (BetantNi) — (REz27))
At 1 April 2015 WZE-REMA-A 9,295,440 23,092,421 10,748,910 284,102 - (29903553) 13,517,326
Changes in equity for the year: ERNEREE |
Profit for the year ERET - - - - - 329,315 329,315
Exchange differences on translation of  ESNERABEEE (THFE)
foreign operations, net of il tax - - - 94,024 - - 94,024
Total comprehensive income ERFEN\LE
for the year - - - 94,024 - 329,315 423,339
Equity-settled share-based payments  BREEE N AEEAF 26(b) - - - - 1,029,300 - 1,029,300
Repurchase of shares mERe 27(a)(i) (21,880) (283.182) = - - - (305062)
Dividend paid in respect of FERESH
previous year - (2,322,120) - - - - (2322.120)
At31March 2016 and 1 April 2016 R=F-~E=B=1-8
R=E-A¥MA-A 9,273,560 20,487,125 10,748,910 378,126 1,029,300 (29574238 12,342,783
Changes in equity for the year: ERMEREE
Profit for the year ERRA| - - - - - 382,539 382,539
Bxchange differences on translation of  ESNERABEEE (THFE)
foreign operations, net of il tax - - - (8,555) - - (8,555)
Total comprehensive income EREENAEE
for the year - - - (8,555) - 382,539 373,984
Equity-settled share-based payments  BREEE MR AEERF 26(b) - - - - 692,153 - 692,153
Repurchase of shares EERH 27(a)i) (18,480) (247,380) = = = - (265,860)
At 31 March 2017 RZE-tF=B=1-H 9,255,080 20,239,745 10,748,910 369,571 1,721,453 (29,191,699) 13,143,060

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

\\/T\/\EE N7 }/Zﬁ = %

For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) “T—+F=A=1+—HItEFE CETIE

Note 2017 = =2—+F 2016 —Z—"F

Bt e HK$E T HK$E7T
Operating activities REER
Profit before taxation B F5 Al S A 382,539 329,315
Adjustments for: HTFISIHELFE -
— Share of loss of an associate — JE{REt S A TR ER 139 1,010
— Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets — — B BIBSIRIZ A FERRIER)
at fair value through profit or loss ERMEENLATE
Hﬁ'(ﬁ)/}%}% 5 (144,570) 111,765
— Gain on disposal of financial assets at ~ — HE&EZEBIESIRIZATE
fair value through profit or loss BRI E A E s 5 (71,843) (35,030)
— Interest income — FIEYA 5 (4,701) (21,648)
— Equity-settled share-based payments — R E AR D AR R 6(a) 692,153 1,029,300
— Depreciation — e 6(b) 343,943 149,801
— Loss on disposal of property, — HEWE - BER
plant and equipment RAEHEE 6(b) 2,366 =
— Provisions — B 6(b) 522,604 729,492
— Reversal of unused provisions — RE) A B o] B 6(b) (588,512) (487,749)
— Write-off of inventories — IFEMEH 6(b) 8,963 128,688
Operating profit before changes in REEESEHBRMNREHET
working capital 1,143,081 1,934,944
Increase in inventories FEEM (192,002) (18,562)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and EUE 5 K H A IR FR
other receivables (), md (2,407,064) 3,127,143
Increase/(decrease) in trade and BN E 5 K H AR IR TR
other payables #m,/ Crd) 377,427 (1,955,761)
Cash (used in)/generated from % (FTH)ELXERE
operations (1,078,558) 3,087,764
Tax refunded/(paid), net R/ (BAY) ®Bizk CFE) 151,365 (182,904)
Net cash (used in)/generated from %‘%'ﬁ*%ﬁ (FTH),/ EXBEFE
operating activities (927,193) 2,904,860
Investing activities REEE
Payment for purchase of property, SNEBEVE  BEREME
plant and equipment (709,817) (73,921)
Capital contribution for investment in REZ R ENEREZA
an associate (139) =
Decrease in non-pledged time deposits RERE B ERHA
with maturity over three months from BiE = A &9 FEHE AR
date of deposits, net EBIFROR S OFE) = 656,073
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets BBERREE AL ERIEN
at fair value through profit or loss SRYEERAD (1) 305,673 (255,395)
Repayment from an associate B A RIERK = 100,000
Loan made to an associate L W/NCTI= 6 - (200,000)
Interest received BUYFIE 4,701 21,648
Net cash (used in)/generated from REES (FTA), EEXRLFE
investing activities (399,582) 248,405
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z—t&=A=+—HILFE (LETIIE)

Note 2017 —ZE—tF 2016 —Z—"4F

B eE HKS$# T HK$B 7T

Financing activities REEE
Repurchase of shares [l B s ) 27(a)ii) (265,860) (305,062)
Increase in pledged bank deposits, net BRI RSN CFE) (104) (2,000,170)
Dividend paid in respect of previous year {48 S f+ = (2,322,120)
Net cash used in financing activities  BEEEFfTARL EE (265,964) (4,627,352)
Net decrease in cash and ReRBASEEWFERD

cash equivalents (1,592,739) (1,474,087)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April ROB—HMRERESEEY 6,121,320 7,501,072
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes — MNE[E R ZE By 5228 (8,246) 94,335
Cash and cash equivalents R=ZA=1t—HHBRELR

at 31 March REZEY 21 4,520,335 6,121,320

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated MR O S R AR P IL R & BT R R ) — BB0D)

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)

General information

ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address
of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. On 23
May 2016, the address of the principal place of business of the
company and its operating subsidiaries was changed from Level
10, Park Building, 476 Castle Peak Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong
to Units C & D, 1st Floor, Por Yen Building, 478 Castle Peak Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The company’s shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2017 comprise the company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “group”).

The company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 32.

Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the group. Note 3 provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
group is set out below.
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(b)
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements is the historical cost basis except as otherwise
stated in the significant accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), except where indicated otherwise, which is also
the functional currency of the company.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on these consolidated financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 34.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. The group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the group and other parties) are considered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-—Z—t&F=A=+—HI-FE UAETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Subsidiaries (continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences
until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and
transactions and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains

but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

In the company’s statement of financial position, investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(j)ii)).
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the company on
the basis of dividend received or receivable.

Associate

An associate is an entity in which the group or company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and operating
policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity method. Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for
any excess of the group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values
of the associate’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the group’s share of the associate’s net
assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment (see
note 2(j)(ii)). Any acquisition-date excess over costs, the group’s
share of the post-acquisition, post tax results of the associate and
any impairment losses for the year are recognised in profit or loss,
whereas the group’s share of post-acquisition post tax items of the
investees’ other comprehensive income is included in the group’s
other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Associate (continued)

When the group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate, the group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate. For this purpose, the groups’ interest
in the associate is the carrying amount of the investment under
the equity method together with the group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the group’s net investment in the
associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of the
group’s interest in the associate, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in
which case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(j)ii)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any,
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

— Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms

and 4 years
— Furniture and fixtures 4 years
— Computer and other 4 years

equipment

The useful life of an asset, its depreciation method and residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—t&F=A=+—HIFE (ETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable

value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location

and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note
2(j)(i), except where the receivables are interest-free loans made
to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect
of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables
are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

Service contracts

When the outcome of a service contract can be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract at the end of the reporting
period. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an
expense immediately. When the outcome of a service contract
cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Service contracts (continued)

Service contracts in progress at the end of the reporting period
are recorded at the net amount of costs incurred plus recognised
profits less recognised losses and progress billings, and are
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
as the “Gross amount due from customers for service contract
work” (as an asset) or the “Gross amount due to customers
for service contract work” (as a liability), as when applicable.
Progress billings not yet paid by the customers are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under “Trade and
other receivables”. Amounts received before the related work is
performed are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position under “Trade and other payables”.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are either
investments classified as held for trading or designated as at
fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. These
investments are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value of these investments are
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of assets
Impairment of receivables

Receivables (including amounts due from related parties) that are
stated at cost or amortised cost are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be

recoverable.

If any event or change in circumstances indicates that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable, an impairment loss is determined

and recognised as follows:
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—t&F=A=+—HIFE (ETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of assets (continued)
Impairment of receivables (continued)

For trade and other receivables carried at cost or at amortised
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition of these assets), where the effect of discounting
is material. This assessment is made collectively where financial
assets carried at amortised cost share similar risk characteristics,
such as similar past due status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which
are assessed for impairment collectively are based on historical loss
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to the
collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal of
an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount
exceeding that which would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets
directly, except for impairment losses recognised in respect of trade
receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote.
In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded
using an allowance account. When the group is satisfied that
recovery is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is written
off against trade receivables directly and any amounts held in the
allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance account
are reversed against the allowance account. Other changes in
the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
()  Impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;
- investment in an associate; and

- investment in a subsidiary in the company’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of assets (continued)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the
same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that, in the case of taxable differences, the group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
company or the group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the group or
the company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred

- different taxable entities, which,

tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis
or realise and settle simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance
with note 2(o)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

ANNUAL REPORT 2016-2017 F%&

2

(k)

0

(m)

ARE SRR MR

BE_Z—tF=A=1t—HLLFE ETIIE)

TESTHE (&)
Fr&w (&)

RIS A SR EBIR SR R H 2 B & 5 5 5
o WEATEE - WMEARERAEBEEET
ERENAMBREEREASRHRARE  YATE
AT R RIIE R T - A HAR IR & B ST IR
BEMRG DA ERRAFIAGEMELERIABFE
#H

- HWAXAHKRBAEERAR  AARHAE
Bt Sl FRERLEE  ARKERZE
ENFEZAE X

- MARERBREERAR  MEFEER

BEER RSB LA T AR — AR
MIPTSIR AR

- Al —ERVEEE :

o

- TENERTER - LS ERHE
KRR BEBERBERLEHRAR
EFRBEIABELEHAEEA
VAW [B] 8 B fE) )+ 4R F R A
BAMBAEERFEARRIAR
B AFASREZEEREEZE

f -
RERREESEY

ReRReFEYERRROFALRE  RITEE
heREBREREFRUARESRRASRE
& WEREANBERREREMNNESE @ ME
B2 HTENER A TEBAZR=EARNI
H .

ER

FE 3 B 5 T2 ELAh & {1 X
%ﬁé%&ﬁ@%ﬁﬁm%*%@”@%%Aﬁ
WM 2 ()M B B R (R B R BR 5D - FER R S R
ﬁm%ﬁ@ AT B SR A BIR - AR B A
BB EERER T ARG

67



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= AR

ANy =] /\ﬁﬁ%i&% ng_l\jz

For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(n)

(o)

0)

(ii)

68

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the
guarantee (being the transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially recognised as deferred
income within trade and other payables. Where consideration
is received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in
profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—t&F=A=+—HIFE (ETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates

ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Items of statement of financial
positions are translated into HK$ at the closing foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange

reserve.
Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the group and the revenue and costs, if applicable,
can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as

follows:
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Service revenue

Service revenue comprises revenue from smartcard systems, radio
frequency identification (“RFID”), information technology (“IT")
and related service contracts.

Revenue from a fixed price service contract is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the
percentage of contract costs incurred to date to estimated total
contract costs for the contract. When the outcome of a service
contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable.

Other services income is recognised when the relevant services are
provided.

Consultancy income

Consultancy income is recognised when the consultancy services
are rendered.

Income from maintenance services

Income from maintenance services is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the maintenance service contracts.

Income received or receivable in respect of services which have
not been completed on or before the end of the reporting period
are shown in the consolidated statement of financial position as
deferred maintenance income.

Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time when
the customer has accepted the goods and the related risks and
rewards of ownership. Revenue excludes value-added tax or other
sales taxes, if any, and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Government sponsorship income
Government sponsorship income is recognised when the company

complied with the conditions attaching to the sponsorship and the
income is received.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—t&F=A=+—HIFE (ETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Dividend income

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the
share price of the investment goes ex-dividend.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the
group demonstrably commits itself to terminate employment or
to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having
a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

Equity-settled share-based payments

For share options granted under the 2011 Scheme per note 26,
the fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised
as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in a share
option reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date using the binomial option pricing model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the options will
vest.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Equity-settled share-based payments (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the original
employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve) except where forfeiture
is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to
the market price of the company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the share option reserve until either the options is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account)
or the options expires (when it is released directly to accumulated
losses).

Research and development costs

Expenditure on research and development activities is expensed in
profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred.

Operating lease charges

Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the group are classified as operating leases.

Where the group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit
or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset.

Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the group if that person:

(a) has control or joint control over the group;
(b) has significant influence over the group; or
(@} is a member of the key management personnel of

the group or the group’s parent.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-—Z—t&F=A=+—HI-FE UAETIIE)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(u) Related parties (continued)

(ii) An entity is related to the group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(a)

(b)

(e)

)

(9)

The entity and the group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the group or an
entity related to the group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (i).

A person identified in (i)(a) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of the group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,

that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the group’s

various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these

criteria.
Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective and relevant to the group for the current
accounting period:

. Amendments to HKAS 1, Disclosure initiative

. Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38, Clarification of
acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation

o Amendments to HKAS 27, Equity method in separate

financial statements

. Amendments to HKFRSs, Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2012-2014 cycle

The adopted of aforesaid amendments to HKFRSs has had no
material effect on the consolidated financial statements in the
current or prior accounting periods.

The group has not applied any new or revised HKFRSs that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period (see note 35).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-—Z—t&F=A=+—HI-FE UAETIIE)

4  Revenue 4 W=
Revenue represents the net sales value of goods supplied to H&E?‘é R TER O RIR RS A F UL
customers and revenue from services rendered. The amount of NERABREHNEZD BT
each significant category of revenue recognised in revenue during
the year is as follows:
2017 =ZF—tF 2016 —ZF—"F
HK$#& T HK$E 7T
Provision of smartcard systems, B REL - 5THEHRI K&
RFID and IT services B R RS
— Service revenue — PRI M 10,069,673 10,856,436
— Income from maintenance services — RERBIA 11,580,006 11,943,838
— Sales of service related products — HERBHBER 547,433 461,833
22,197,112 23,262,107
Consultancy income A RS RIS U A 151,541 907,199
22,348,653 24,169,306

5 Other income and other gains, net

5 HtbAREAMFRE

2017 =E—tF 2016 —ZF—"F
HK$#& T HK$E 7T
Other income HAn A
Interest income ﬂ SULON 4,701 21,648
Dividend income from listed securities AR S U A 68,114 56,497
Government sponsorship income B(fﬁ‘éfﬁjﬂﬁl)\ 331,780 225,793
Facility supporting income BN - 319,800
Sundry income H A A 12,154 17,439
416,749 641,177
Other gains/(losses), net HiBaE (EE)
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets BBEERREATERENER
at fair value through profit or loss BENRNTEWRES /(EiE) 144,570 (111,765)
Gain on disposal of financial assets HEBBERIRERA T ERERN
at fair value through profit or loss TRIEEW A 71,843 35,030
216,413 (76,735)
633,162 564,442
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6

76

Profit before taxation

BE_Z

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

—tF=A=t—RLEFE CAVETIE)

R %R A % A

BBADENE kR (GEA)

2017 —E—tF 2016 —Z=—~"F
HK$E 7T HK$# 7T
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (a) BETIRAN (BIEES
remuneration) : ) #
Salaries, wages and other benefits e > TEREMEF 11,941,869 13,037,189
Retirement scheme contributions IRONET 2SR (M97E25)
(note 25) 453,848 509,176
Equity-settled share-based payments IRRERE B UARR 1 7 BE it
(note 26) ik (MtEE26) 692,153 1,029,300
13,087,870 14,575,665
(b) Other items: (b) HMIgE :
Auditor’s remuneration Z B R & 361,000 358,000
Cost of inventories sold ## 178 &Rk A 4,063,473 3,350,041
Depreciation e 343,943 149,801
Development costs * RS A A 574,764 918,377
Exchange loss, net & 5 B85 E 8,796 199,630
Loss on disposal of property, HEYZE - BE K
plant and equipment RAERI SR 2,366 -
Provisions (note 23) B (PaE23) 522,604 729,492
Operating lease charges: EHEST M ¢
minimum lease payments =EKHAERE
— hire of properties — YR E 1,297,396 1,281,668
— hire of office equipment — ARRERE 48,120 48,120
Reversal of unused provisions N A B A [
(note 23) (Mf7E23) (588,512) (487,749)
Write-off of inventories FEHH 8,963 128,688
3 Development costs included staff costs of HK$484,542 (2016: 3 ff B BK A B $5484,542% L (= & — /XN F ¢

##

HK$761,395), which is also disclosed separately in note 6(b).

Cost of inventories sold included write-off of inventories of HK$8,963
(2016: HK$128,688), which is also disclosed separately in note 6(b).

761,3957%870) MB ITAA « WWERKAINE FEM &

(b)JBLHER °

# FEHEREKE

b) B R o

58,9637 7T (=
128,688 L) FEMIE - LEFE

— N
W?ﬁEEW&
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—t&F=A=+—HIFE (ETIIE)

7  Income tax 7  FRB®

(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or (a) HFABRZERHEMEZEWERNAERHR
loss and other comprehensive income represents: *

2017 = Z2—+F 2016 —Z—N4F

HK$E T HK$E7T

Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax BITHIE — HEFEH

Provision for the year FNEE = 25,825

Over provision in respect of prior years T FREEE - (25,825)
The group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits NS B B R B R IE - (DARIR AN S B A
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which subsidiaries R TT HBRITIRBIFTE -
within the group are domiciled and operated.
During the year ended 31 March 2017, no provision for Hong BE-ZT—tHF=A=+—HILFE B#HRAER
Kong Profits Tax was made as the group incurred losses for tax BEEEREHREAFERRPUEH - MALES
purpose or had sufficient tax losses brought forward to set off BREHER BE_T—RF=ZA=+—HIF
against current year's assessable profits. During the year ended 31 B BEMSHBEIIFENR FHEEFH216.5% 5
March 2016, provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at EKEHHF o
16.5% of the estimated assessable profit.
No provision for income tax in The People’s Republic of China (the AEBNFALEREARLNE (THE]) R
"PRC”) and Macao have been made as the group did not have PIR[ETEE R B E T —+F=A=+—H
any assessable profit for taxation purpose in the PRC or Macao I FEYERBSORPIERTBME (ZF—KF :

during the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: HKS$Nil). ) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=%

7

(b)

78

Income tax (continued)

—tF=A=t—RLEFE CAVETIE)

7 FRBHR (&)

Reconciliation between income tax and accounting (b) ZFAEHRREHEFNNE AR RNAS
profit at applicable tax rate: mE
2017 =2 —tF 2016 Z=— "5
HKS$& T HK$E7T
Profit before taxation B 15 Al e A 382,539 329,315
Notional tax on profit before taxation, BRE R AR R 16.5 % i A
calculated at the applicable TR A RERTIE
tax rate of 16.5% 63,119 54,336
Tax effect of different tax rates on Mt A E A &t B R TR
subsidiaries operating in other W2 (M)
jurisdictions (note) (4,852) (79,717)
Tax effect of share of loss of an associate  FE{HES A B IR TS 2 23 167
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TRIDRE AN 2 254,852 344,542
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERRBARNT R E (111,091) (160,059)
Tax effect of prior year's tax losses utilised &S 4 7 1A &5 1B RO B 15 57 22 (291,358) (225,246)
Tax effect of temporary differences RERR LR =N 2
not recognised (92,364) 8,171
Tax effect of unused tax losses RER M ARE AT IEEERD
not recognised M2 181,671 83,631
Over provision in respect of prior years EF R - (25,825)
Income tax PS5 = -
Note: Bt

The applicable tax rate of the company and those subsidiaries that are
incorporated in Hong Kong is 16.5% (2016: 16.5%). The applicable tax rates of

the subsidiaries of the company incorporated outside Hong Kong are as follows:

i ITE (China) Limited is subjected to tax rate of 25% (2016: 25%). i

ii. ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada is subject to a progressive tax rate from ii.

3% to 12% (2016: 3% to 12%).

ARARERBEZMOMELR
— N 2 16.5%) © MEIEEBEM A B R B/ E
RABEMT

(==

A ERBER16.5%

EEMYESEREARERARANREH25% (=
T—RF 1 25%) °

BEZRH CRP) ARA R &H#E
12% (ZZ—RF : 3% E12%) °

BERI%E
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—t&F=A=+—HIFE (ETIIE)

8 Directors’ remuneration 8 E=EM<
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing BB AR LT8R A R &S Q RE G SE383 15 58
Rules and section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is MNEFMEFBEOT :
as follows:
2017 —E—tF
Salaries, Equity-
allowances  Retirement settled
Directors'  and benefits scheme share-based
fees in kind  contributions Sub-total payments Total
Eic RESE
BER BIRGTE SRR A
E=He BENRE A BRGE ER AR CH
HKSE T HKSE T HKSE T HK$H T HK$E T HK$7E T
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent )y it 230,000 1,322,811 18,000 1,570,811 46,144 1,616,955
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung EIELE 230,000 376,050 17,223 623,273 46,144 669,417
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah )i e 50,000 - - 50,000 46,144 96,144
Mr. George Roger Manho BEEEE
(retired on 8 August 2016) (R=Z—F
NANBEFE) 17,799 - - 17,799 - 17,799
527,799 1,698,861 35,223 2,261,883 138,432 2,400,315
Independent non-executive directors BV IEHTES
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen FIEREL 120,000 - - 120,000 46,144 166,144
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony B3 i 50,000 - - 50,000 46,144 96,144
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew BRBTE 50,000 - - 50,000 46,144 96,144
220,000 - - 220,000 138,432 358,432
Total air 741,799 1,698,861 35,223 2,481,883 276,864 2,758,747
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z
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“E—tF=ZA=+—HUEFE (RETIIE)

Directors’ remuneration (continued) 8 EEMe (/)
2016 —E—RE
Salaries, Equity-
allowances Retirement settled
Directors' and benefits scheme share-based
fees inkind  contributions Sub-total payments Total
Hé - RiEEE
2R BIRGrEl MR A
EE 4 ENfla {3 Bt BRI At
HK$H7T HK$H7T HK$ 7T HK$ 77T HK$HET HK$H7T
Executive directors HoES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Ed 230,000 1,259,820 18,000 1,507,820 - 1,507,820
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung BIE A 230,000 348,450 15,913 594,363 - 594,363
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah e 50,000 = = 50,000 = 50,000
Mr. George Roger Manho =t 50,000 - - 50,000 = 50,000
560,000 1,608,270 33913 2,202,183 - 2,202,183
Independent non-executive directors BRI ES
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen FERELT 120,000 - - 120,000 84,600 204,600
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony EELpd 50,000 = = 50,000 84,600 134,600
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew BRREEE 50,000 - - 50,000 84,600 134,600
220,000 - - 220,000 253,800 473,800
Total o= 780,000 1,608,270 33913 2,422,183 253,800 2,675,983
Individuals with highest emoluments 9 RBeHFHAL

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2016:

two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The

aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three (2016:

three) individuals are as follows:

REMGRSHFALF @ ML (ZT—RF : W)

BER
—NEE

WEMMEE MR TS - HB=fr (=
=tr) BEHATHMEREDT

2017 —Z—tfF 2016 ZZF—RF

HKS$E T HK$Z 7T

Salaries and other emoluments He REMBE 1,757,231 1,714,693
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIHRR 54,000 54,000
Equity-settled share-based payments IR A B DARR (D R BRI 3K 108,950 258,500
1,920,181 2,027,193

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE

Individuals with highest emoluments 9
(continued)

The emoluments of the three (2016: three) individuals with the

ARE SRR MR

“E—tF=A=+—-HLFE AETIE)

Re¥FAL (&)

= (ZF—RF:

=) HREHEALHHS N T

highest emoluments are within the following band: THI&EE -
2017 —F—tF 2016 ZF—R4F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
ALTEE ATHE
HK$Nil — HK$1,000,000 =8 7T — 1,000,000/ 7T 3 3
Dividends 10 KE

The board of directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

Earnings per share 1

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit
attributable to owners of the company of HK$382,539 (2016:
HK$329,315) and the weighted average of 926,733,042 (2016:
928,663,945) ordinary shares in issue during the year, calculated

as follows:

BEZ—tR-T-REF=ZA=+—HILLFE"
BEEU TPEHRBEEFMES -

BREF

BIREARBF TIRA A R A A EG%F382,539
BIL(ZZT—/NF 329,315 L) RERNE T
I3 AR Y D0 15 IR £0926,733,042/8 (== — X
4 : 928,663,9450%) * FTEMT :

2017 =ZF—tF 2016 —Z—N4F

Issued ordinary shares at 1 April REUA— BB ETE B 927,356,000 929,544,000
Effect of repurchase of shares BRI E

(note 27 (a)(ii) (Ft=E27(@)i)) (622,958) (880,055)
Weighted average number of R=A=+—HB8E@Ek

ordinary shares at 31 March INFETFE 88 926,733,042 928,663,945

As the company does not have any potential dilutive ordinary
shares during the year ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, basic and
diluted earnings per share are the same.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—tF=A=+—HILFE (LUETINE)

12 Segment reporting 12 HPBH/E
(@) Operating segment information (a) EEHWBEHR
The group conducts its business within one business segment, AEENKERE—HEENS - NEERRES
smartcard systems, RFID, IT services and related services. All of the SR B R B A BHE IR AR IBE RS - FiE A%
group’s products and services are of a similar nature and subject 8 2E mm MRS A EACUEE - ke RER o W
to similar risk and returns. Accordingly, the group’s operating It REENKE RS BE - LESE ©
activities are attributable to a single operating segment.
(b) Geographical information (b) &R
The group’s operations are principally located in Hong Kong, REBFEHEERS  BPIAKRRBILEETR -
Macao and the PRC.
The group’s revenue from external customers and information REBEREINE P U RIERENE 2 R i3 o # 40
about its non-current assets by geographical location are detailed ™
below:
Revenue from external customers Non-current assets
HhEF FRBEE
2017 —Z=—+&F 2016 —F—"F 2017 —ZE—+t#F 2016 —Z—"F
HK$#% T HK$E7T HK$#% T HK$#E 7T
Hong Kong =5 19,765,676 19,300,674 481,752 115,432
Macao JRPY 2,582,977 4,868,632 2,208 3,473
PRC Fh K] - = 4,352 6,208
22,348,653 24,169,306 488,312 125,113
(0 Information about major customers () HBEEEEFEH
For the year ended 31 March 2017, there were four (2016: BE—T-—tF=A=+—HItFE A (:;?
three) customers who accounted for over 10% of total revenue */_\i =) &P a5 AN 5 M A0 U ek
of the group with aggregate amount of HK$10,397,710 (2016: 10% @ ZFEEXEEF WWEZ%1O,397,7107%7E (:
HK$8,712,512). T— N4 :8,712,512/7T) ©
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13 Property, plant and equipment

13 % BERRE

For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—t&F=A=+—HIFE (ETIIE)

Computer
Leasehold Furniture and other
improvements and fixtures equipment Total
HEMERE ERREE ESBEREMRE &3t
HK$#E T HK$#E T HK$# T HK$E 7T
Cost: A
At 1 April 2015 “ZT-hFMA—H 416,800 336,091 821,876 1,574,767
Additions NE - 1,160 72,761 73,921
Exchange realignment BE 1 72 - - (2,658) (2,658)
At 31 March 2016 and RZE—R"F=RA=+—H
1 April 2016 RZZE—7FMA—H 416,800 337,251 891,979 1,646,030
Additions INE 493,556 11,802 204,459 709,817
Disposals k= (416,800) (55,725) (171,735) (644,260)
Exchange realignment B 57, 352 = - (3,189) (3,189)
At 31 March 2017 R-_ZE—+F=A=+—H 493,556 293,328 921,514 1,708,398
Accumulated depreciation: REHIE
At 1 April 2015 —E—HFMA—H 292,644 336,091 744,728 1,373,463
Charge for the year FNITE 106,416 48 43,337 149,801
Exchange realignment BE 1 72 - - (2,347) (2,347)
At 31 March 2016 and R=Z—"F=A=1+—H
1 April 2016 kZZE—7FMA—H 399,060 336,139 785,718 1,520,917
Charge for the year FNITE 253,788 2,483 87,672 343,943
Eliminated on disposals B R (416,800) (55,725) (169,369) (641,894)
Exchange realignment 0 5 - - (2,880) (2,880)
At 31 March 2017 R-ZE—+F=A=+—H 236,048 282,897 701,141 1,220,086
Carrying amount: IREE :
At 31 March 2017 R_E—+F=A=+—H 257,508 10,431 220,373 488,312
At 31 March 2016 R-ZE—R"F=A=+—H 17,740 1,112 106,261 125,113
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AR e B SR

For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14 Interest in an associate

Bz

“E—tF=ZA=+—HUEFE (RETIIE)

14 BEQTRER

2017 —B—t& 2016 —ZF—"F
HKS$E T HK$E 7T
Unlisted investment, at cost FEETIRE (BAN) 2,639 2,500
Accumulated share of loss FE(R 25T EE (2,639) (2,500)
Particulars of the group’s associate at 31 March 2017 and 2016 RZE—tFR-ZT-—R"F=A=+—H 5=
are as follows: M E R ARIERET

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Percentage of equity

Name operations attributable to the group Principal activities
FR3L SR AEEB PTG
=L &R R EREDL FEXK
Indirect
i
2017 2016

—E—+tF —ZT—RF

Precision Instrument and Hong Kong 25.13% 25.00% Provision of custom-developed
Optics Limited &6 high-end laser scanning microscopes

AR BERAR

The associate is indirectly held by the group through a subsidiary

of the company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

ARE SRR MR

BE_ZT—tF=A=+—HLFE CAVETIIE)

14 Interest in an associate (continued) 14 HERNTER (&)
Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s unlisted REERFELMBHEQNRNPEREMNT :
associate is as follows:
Precision Instrument and Optics Limited KRR BRAF
2017 —F—tF 2016 —Z— R4
HK$#% T HK$E T
Current assets MENE E 95,668 76,736
Current liabilities EIBE 254,252 230,252
Net liabilities BEFE (158,584) (153,516)
Revenue Wzs - _
Loss and total comprehensive expense EBEEEMEES HAET 5,568 157,555
Shared by the group: REEFEL
Loss and total comprehensive expense (Note) &8k EMEmEZ KA (HiFE) 139 1,010

Net assets

BEFE

Note:

The group has only recognised a share of loss of the associate for

Mt &E -

the year limited to HK$139 (2016: HK$1,010) as the interest in this
associate was reduced to zero. The unrecognised share of losses for the

year is HK$1,260 (2016: HK$38,379).

REBERFARREEEERB1398T (ZF—
NEE1,01087T) C BUEBE R RIERES M
FRRERE(LEER,2608TT (ZF—RF -
38,379/87T) °

15 Goodwill 15 BHE
HK$E7T

Cost 2%
At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016, R-T—RAFMNA—R - —T—A"F=-A=+—8"

1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017 — T XFNA-—HE=ZE—tF=A=+—H 9,507,923
Accumulated amortisation REHEH
At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016, RZZE—RAFMHA—B - —T—X~"F=A=+—8 "

1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017 B RNFNA—BAR=_ZT—+tHF=A=+—H 3,169,307
Accumulated impairment loss ZRREER
At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016, RZE—RAFMNA—R - ZFT—"F=A=+—H8 "

1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017 R RNFENA-—AR_ZE—tHFE=ZA=1+—H 6,338,616

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2017

At 31 March 2016
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—tF=A=+—HILFE (LUETINE)

16 Inventories 16 =FE

2017 —E—+F 2016 —Z— "4

HKS$E T HK$E 7T
Raw materials ERrE 847,127 695,453
Work in progress ERH 295,045 248,307
Finished goods UK T 163,563 178,936
1,305,735 1,122,696
. =5
17 Trade and other receivables 17 FEREZRHMWEKRIIKER
2017 —F—tF 2016 —F—RF
HKS$# T HK$%E 7T
Trade receivables FEWE FIRIX 3,659,247 1,738,112
Other receivables A e KR 3R 1,275,284 892,624
Gross amount due from customers for W EFHIRIEAE L
service contract work (note 24) TREsE@Es (fik24) 2,119,568 2,036,423
Retention money receivables FEWUREE & 184,716 34,536
Deposits and prepayments e RkBENER 1,352,771 1,482,827
8,591,586 6,184,522
All of the trade and other receivables, apart from certain deposits b A 20188,594 7L (ZZ — /& : 256,007 7T)
of HK$188,594 (2016: HK$256,007) are expected to be recovered ETHERIH  AEENMARKE 5 N EME
or recognised as expenses within one year. WIRRTEBAR —FA A MBI ER R ER -

(@) An ageing analysis of trade receivables as at the (a) MREHRZRES  RHEPREVRES
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice IRV IRER D AT T
date, is as follows:

2017 —ZE—tF 2016 —Z—"F

HK$E 7T HK$87T
Less than 1 month LR—EA 2,279,459 1,264,594
More than 1 month but less than 3 months 238 —1& A8 D =1 A 1,201,536 473,518
More than 3 months but less than 1 year  #iE={EBEDR—F 178,252 -
3,659,247 1,738,112
Trade receivables are generally due within 30 to 45 days (2016: 30 FEURE ZIRF BRI A E30KREASR (Z TR
to 60 days) from the date of billing. Further details on the group’s F : 30KRE60K) MEIH - FEHMNHIFE28(a) A%

credit policy are set out in note 28(a). EOEEBCR -
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ARE SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—t&F=A=+—HIFE (ETIIE)

17 Trade and other receivables (continued) 17 EWEZREMERIIKRI (&)

(b) The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are (b) RIMEHREKWE ZIRRILLEIRMDH

neither individually nor collectively considered to 2EZRBENIRE AW T
be impaired as at the end of the reporting period is
as follows:

2017 —ZE—+%F 2016 —Z— "4

HKS$#E T HK$Z 7T
Neither past due nor impaired W IEBHA TR ARE 1,321,190 1,006,878
Less than 1 month past due BEA LR —EA 1,760,939 418,138
More than 1 month but 60 Bt A —1{E A
less than 3 months past due BLR=MEA 398,866 313,096
More than 3 months but 60 BR A = {6 A
less than 1 year past due BLR—F 178,252 =
Amounts past due el 2,338,057 731,234
3,659,247 1,738,112
()  Trade receivables that are not impaired () XREREMNEIWEZIRMR
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a EREFLERAXBERRBOEFLLEEHR
wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history of FO8% o
default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a EaHERIRRERERENBEUEPERN SRR
number of independent customers that have a good track record REFesk - RIBBELSR  EBREMEGELSERYE
with the group. Based on past experience, management believes EEEREE RN KR ARG E R 2 EUk e FT A
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these REELRREREE - NEBRAEFA L EEREM
balances as there has not been a significant change in credit BB AR YD o

quality and the balances are considered fully recoverable. The
group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—tF=A=+—HILFE (LUETINE)

18 Loans to an associate 18 HEQREN
Loans to an associate are unsecured, interest-bearing at 2% per BERNRBERLEER  LWFEFE2% (ZF—
annum (2016: 2% per annum) and repayable within 1 year from N iﬂTZ%) ATEWARAREHR—FA
the end of the reporting period. B3 o
19 Financial assets at fair value through profit 19 ZEBRERREZATFEEENSH
or loss BE
2017 =E—tF 2016 —=— "4
HK$E 7T HK$# 7T
Listed securities — held-for-trading LETES - HEER
— Equity securities in Hong Kong — B EDE S 1,675,370 1,764,630
Market value of listed securities BRSNS ER 1,675,370 1,764,630
The fair value of all equity securities is based on their current bid FiBEEmESH A FEHEREG RSB R
prices in an active market. RABHE o
There has been no significant decline in their fair value below FR - FHEARENATFEDRAERTNHKER
cost and adverse changes in the market value of listed equity PR BA R T 45 (B A& 3 S S Al B 2 - E&Zli"ﬂ§$%?§
investments during the year. The directors of the company BRBEEMPREAREMESKEGRENS
considered that no impairment indication has been noted on the
listed equity investments.
20 Income tax recoverable 20 AIREFRES
(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) #ZZABERREKNFAEHIE

financial position represents:

2017 —E—+F 2016 —Z—"FE

HK$#E T HK$7E 7T

Provision for the year F N - (25,825)

Provisional profits tax paid B A FIA fﬁﬁéﬁ 26,686 184,737
Balance of profits tax provision BEFENENR

relating to prior years BlEsEes (19,139) =

Income tax recoverable AT Bl PSR 7,547 158,912

88

ITE (Holdings) Limited



20

(b)

(0

21

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE

Income tax recoverable (continued)
Deferred tax assets

At 31 March 2017, the group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of approximately
HK$33,661,000 (2016: HK$35,054,000) and deductible temporary
differences of approximately HK$392,000 (2016: HK$557,000)
due to the uncertainty of the related tax benefits being
realised through future taxable profits. The unused tax losses
of approximately HK$1,436,000 (2016: HK$1,775,000) can be
carried forward for offset against the taxable profits of subsequent
years for five years following the loss year. Other unused tax losses
may be carried forward indefinitely.

Deferred tax liabilities

At 31 March 2017, there were no significant unrecognised
deferred tax liabilities (2016: HKS$Nil).

Cash and bank balances and time deposits

ARE SRR MR

“E—tF=A=+—-HLFE AETIE)

20 TAIWEIFRER (F)

(b)

()

21

FERERIBEE

RZE—+tF=A=+—H0 BHRBENERRE
MEBRNBEERBNET T EE - AEBERSAH
T B 1R i K T R BV IR AE B TH & E 49 /333,661,000
PBIL (ZZ—754F : 35,054,00087T) @ MABRK
AN B = B4 5392,0008 7T (Z T — /N &
557,000 7T) ° K ) A 71 I &5 48 491,436,000/ T
(ZZ—7N4F : 1,775,000/ 7T) A A S s REE
BEFERARRAFRERTRT - 1 H &8 Al
AR AEET

ELERIEEE

RZZE—t+F=A=+—0  WRAEMEARE
RELERAEAE (ZF—"F : THIL)

RERBTERUAREREFR

2017 —ZE—t4F 2016 —Z— "4

HKS$#E T HK$Z 7T
Cash and bank balances I & RARTTAEER 4,520,335 6,121,320
Time deposits TE BifF K 2,000,274 2,000,170
6,520,609 8,121,490
Less: Pledged bank deposits B BEARRITIER (2,000,274) (2,000,170)
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEY 4,520,335 6,121,320
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank B 7E BR A7 AR BR B 5 I 3R IR B4 - SRITAF KR

deposit rates except for time deposits which earns interest at fixed
rate. For the year ended 31 March 2017, time deposits are made
for terms of one to two months (2016: one to two months).

Bank deposits of HK$2,000,274 (2016: HK$2,000,170) has been
pledged to secure a banking facility granted to the group (note
30) during the year.
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BIRAFIERES B RITERERHETES -
BE-T—+F=A=+—BIL5E  THERF
H—EmER (CT—A%F: —EWEA)  BEA
EEUREBROERRETE -

AE2,000,2747 7T (ZF—734F 1 2,000,170 7T)

EHREFREERTRT - FRAERARTAZENE
REWE TRITEE (MEE30) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—tF=A=+—HILFE (LUETINE)

22 Trade and other payables 22 ENESRHEMESIRR
2017 =Z—tF 2016 —ZF—"F
HKS$E T HK$E 7T
Trade payables BB SRR 422,948 314,046
Accrued charges and other payables JEETE B & HAth FE IR EX 2,054,166 2,221,244
Gross amount due to customers for BNEEHRSE %)
service contract work (note 24) TREFE®EE (Mik24) 741,445 631,364
Deferred maintenance income EEEFREWA 2,011,355 1,685,833
5,229,914 4,852,487

90

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled

or recognised as income within one year or are repayable on

demand.

The ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the

AEEMENE S REMEMNIRREERN —FR
TS EERRKEE LR RUA ©

RIEHR - ZEZAPERMNE ZRRORER

reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: DA :
2017 =& —tF 2016 —ZF—"F
HK$# T HK$E 7T
Less than 1 month Prr—EA 350,218 278,724
More than 1 month but less than 3 months #BiE—1& F{8 LR =& A 69,370 32,092
More than 3 months but less than 1 year — #B@={AFEIR—F 3,360 3,230
422,948 314,046

ITE (Holdings) Limited



For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23 Provisions

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23

ARE SRR MR

BE_ZT—tF=A=+—HLFE CAVETIIE)

s

Employee Defect liability
benefits period
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) Total
EEER R E H
(Fff=E(a)) (P EE(b)) &5t
HK$2 7T HK$Z 7T HK$E7T
At 1 April 2015 R-ZE—RFWMA—H 49,985 190,365 240,350
Additional provisions recognised BHINE BRI (MdFE6(b))
(note 6(b)) 57,407 672,085 729,492
Reversal of unused provisions REFEEREE (F:E6(b))
(note 6(b)) (59,666) (428,083) (487,749)
At 31 March 2016 and R-ZE—R"F=A=+—HK
1 April 2016 —T—REWMA—H 47,726 434,367 482,093
Additional provisions recognised N EEHER (FiiEE6(b))
(note 6(b)) 116,115 406,489 522,604
Reversal of unused provisions REFEEREE (FizE6b))
(note 6(b)) (86,151) (502,361) (588,512)
At 31 March 2017 R-ZE—+F=A=+—H 77,690 338,495 416,185
Notes: P 5E -
(a) The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave accrued (a) EERANBENIEREEFHRIRENIREME -

and compensation claims made by employees.

(b) The provision for the defect liability period relates to the estimated

cost of work agreed to be carried out for the rectification of smartcard

systems to certain customers. The amount has not been discounted
for the purpose of measuring the provision for defect liability period

because the effect would not be material.

24

(b) REMBEIIEEES TEL B RRRAOME
TRERA - ARRENBEHENRRTZED
R HURBAHBEREE -

Service contracts in progress 24 ETHHERESYN
2017 —ZF—tF 2016 —ZF—"F
HKS$3E T HK$S 7T
Contract costs incurred plus recognised E5EEERAMEN R

profits less recognised losses to date B2 P TE e E 6,330,840 4,039,469
Less: Progress billings B EERR (4,952,717) (2,634,410)
1,378,123 1,405,059

Gross amount due from customers for EEEHRSAE IR
service contract work (note 17) SRIELREE (M93E17) 2,119,568 2,036,423

Gross amount due to customers for ENEEHRGAEHIRE
service contract work (note 22) FIaERE (MiFE22) (741,445) (631,364)
1,378,123 1,405,059
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

25

26

92

Employee retirement benefits

The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
"MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not
previously covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The
MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan
vest immediately.

The subsidiary operating in the PRC is required to participate in
a defined contribution retirement scheme, organised by relevant
government authorities for the staff in the PRC. The subsidiary
is required to make contributions to the retirement scheme at
specified rates of the basic salary of its employees in the PRC.

The group’s retirement scheme contributions charged to profit or
loss for the year were HK$453,848 (2016: HK$509,176).

Share option scheme

The company operates the 2011 Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the 2011 Scheme include the company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the group, suppliers of goods or services to the group, customers
of the group, advisers and consultants, etc. The 2011 Scheme
became effective on 8 August 2011 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2011 Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the company shall not exceed 30% of the total number of
shares of the company in issue. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the
2011 Scheme and any other share option scheme of the company
within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the
company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

25

26

BE_ZT—tF=A=+—BLFE CAETIIE)

B TRIRER

ARERES BRI AHSHEED AR B EBE
1 0 T A FUR IS 028 RE B FIR (i RIS
BRRRERAIEAELHE (RSB - &
WS A 8RR IRINE 8 B AR
SEE - RAREEHE - LR ER LERIE
RAEMNHEHs%ARELHBEK TEAA
Men# e £IR A30,000/87T « FA RS EERT
5t -

ARARAFENHEABRE BT REAERE S
BHES 2 TREERNEHGE - B ARKRRS
BB RN EIREMLL R AMES EAT EEHAR
FERY AR -

REBRAFEFTABZORKENTEHTE
453,848 T (ZZ —/4F : 509,176/87C) °

BRAESTE

ARAET_FT——F58 - SERHAEEEE
R AEMERIY A ERERERE R EE - —T—
—FHEEAEREREARES  HRMEeEBE
WITEER  AEBEMESR  EdmMRGHER -
BE  BEEF - —T——FiER =T ——F/\A
NERAER - BREBUHSE BN - HIFERE B
AT ERBR

MATEMA W ARITENE R L BRI ITEN
AR —F——Fit@ REMBERETSNER
- BTN A TREB R R ETER
B30% ° PMERI+—AA A - KRR —F——4%F
Bl R AR E A R A S B B A BB E A
MENEE  EREELRARAZEREEITRHD
1% ° ERBE I EROBEER L - BRERA
BRI
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Share option scheme (continued)

Share options granted to directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the company’s shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general

meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of the offer upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercisable
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends
on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of the
offer of the share options or the expiry date of the 2011 Scheme,
if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the closing
price of the company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share
options, (i) the average closing price of the company’s shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
and (iii) the nominal value of the share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

On 9 July 2015, the company granted share options to certain
eligible participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 10,950,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
company, represented approximately 1.18% of all the shares in
issue as at the date of the grant.

On 6 December 2016, the company further granted share options
to certain eligible participants to subscribe for an aggregate of
14,650,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital
of the company, represented approximately 1.58% of all the
shares in issue as at the date of the grant.
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BE_Z—tF=A=1t—HLLFE ETIIE)

BRESTE (&)

MESE - THAE - ARIARRRE AN
BRE - BAEEKEIIFATESIAE - o &
AR BABER - ARBLIFANTESREEMIKHF
PRI BB AR - AMER+ — A A RS R A RIK
0. 1% HAE (RE N E A AR RM BB
) BRABEET  ARBRRASEBRAE -

ERTRHEREEIRREHREHBEREN - T—X
N ABHE—ETHRBABERRZERE - Kih
BRENTEHHESETE - REHH—REHR
g IRREHEREEBEREBRTFR  HRTF
F R-T——FtE2 MBS -

BRENTEERTHESREE  EETFER

TIREE : ()A ﬂﬂx@ﬁﬁﬁﬁxﬁéﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂwﬁm
B ()ARRMERMRE BB AER S BHNE
HUTHE s (i) p EE -

BN B TR A AR S
RORER o

RRBRRAERE

R-ZZE—RFLANB ' ARRABTAERAL
& ££10,950,000% & §% M {80.01/% 7T &9 B i%
p; Mz EBREGFRHEBL1.18%NE BT

RZZE—AR"FE+=AHB  ARARAETAERA
T H A ££14,650,0000% B EE0.01/8 LA B AR
B MxEEREGREEE B 41.58%ME TR
1/-\0
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ZT—tF=A=+—BLFE CAETIIE)

26 Share option scheme (continued) 26 ERRETE (E)
(@) The following table details the company’s share (a) FRBRE-Z——FHEFHWBERE
options in issue under the 2011 Scheme during the FHIERAT
year
Number of exercisable and outstanding share options
ATERAATTRAAERE
Exercise price At 1 April - Granted during ~ Lapsed during At 31 March
Participant Date of grant Exercisable period per share 2016 the year the year 2017
RIZE—RE RZZ-t%F
BERE KBS {76eH BRITRER MA—H ERNEi ERE® =A=1-A
HK$ET
Independent non-executive 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to
directors ZZ-1FtANA 7 August 2021
BUIHES “Z-"F-ANBE
25 )\AtH 0.154 2,700,000 = = 2,700,000
Directors of subsidiaries of 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to
the company ZZ-1FtANA 7 August 2021
ARANERANES “Z-"F-ANBE
25 )\AtA 0.154 3,750,000 = = 3,750,000
Other employees 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to
EftlES ZZ-1FtANA 7 August 2021
—EE-ANRE
25 )\AtA 0.154 4,500,000 = = 4,500,000
Executive directors 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to
B1ES —ENETZARA 7 August 2021
“E—tE ARRE
2 -5/\AtH 0.146 = 2,700,000 = 2,700,000
Independent non-executive 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to
directors - "ETZAAR 7 August 2021
BUHNTES i AV i =E
2 -5/\AtH 0.146 = 2,700,000 = 2,700,000
Directors of subsidiaries of 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to
the company - "ETZAAE 7 August 2021
RRAMBARNES 2%, ARRE
ZZ--%/\AtH 0.146 - 3,350,000 - 3,350,000
Other employees 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to
EftlES ZZ-"ETZAAE 7 August 2021
2%, ARRZ
2 —E/\AtH 0.146 - 5,900,000 (1,150,000) 4,750,000
Total A 10,950,000 14,650,000 (1,150,000 24,450,000
Weighted average exercise price (HKS)
IEFSTRER (BT 0.15
During the period between the date of grant and the end of the R BB E AR EHR © & 3£1,150,0008 A1
reporting period, total of 1,150,000 share options were lapsed HEAEERBmMAN #HE-_T—+R=-_F—X
due to resignation of relevant employees. No share options were FZA=T—HIEFE  WRBITEE(IRERRE -
exercised during the year ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.
94 ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Share option scheme (continued) 26
Fair value of share options and assumption (b)
The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share options
granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share options
granted is measured based on a binominal model. The contractual

life of the share options is used as an input into this model.
Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into the binomial
model.

The inputs into the model were as follows:

Date of grant FH B E

Total number of share options AR

Share price of the company at the date of grant  #% H AR A BIRR(E
Exercise price per share BRITERER
Expected volatility L]

Option life HE R

Expected dividend yield TEEANR BE
Risk-free interest rate 7 3 b Al &

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility of the
company’s share price and it is assumed there is no material
change over the whole life of share options.

The total fair value of the share options granted during the year
was approximately HK$1,080,000 (2016: HK$1,029,300) with
fair value of HK$0.08 (2016: HK$0.094) for each option. The
group has recognised equity-settled share-based payments of
HK$692,153 (2016: HK$1,029,300) arising from options vested
during the year.

Save as disclosed above, no share options was granted, exercised,
cancelled, or lapsed in accordance with the terms of the share
option scheme of the company during both the current and prior

year.
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BE_ZT—tF=A=+—HLFE CAVETIIE)

BREstE (&)
BE R HE Y D P ERABRR

ARBUELBREMNESORENAFELER
BREN A FERE - BEBRENGTAFER
“HARAGE - BRENSOHARHEA 2 —IH
BASH - BHRFTENSHDEA ZEEN
o

RABAZEAT :
9 July 2015 6 December 2016
ZE-—RFtANRE ZZE—AF+ZAXH
10,950,000 14,650,000

HK$0.152/% 7
HK$0.1547% 7T
91%

6.08 yearsd
Nl

1.26%

HK$0.146/5 7T
HK$0.14678 7T
76%

4.67 yearstF
Nil4&

1.18%

B HDR M8 T AR B AN 1 B B (B O R SRR - S RER IR

BREENENREEARE -

LA 8 A%0.08% T (= & — /X 4 : 0.094% Jt) &
ATEFE  FAREBERENATELENS
1,080,000 7T (=& — /< F : 1,029,300/ Jt) °
REEE R FANERE692,153870 (ZF— R~ F -

1,029,300/ 70 ) HURRAE 45 E DARR (D B ERE K -

BRUA_EBREESD -

Eaal

F P B K A 0 R B A R R B R T

ZmEmEd - BUNSERK o
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Bz

“E—tF=ZA=+—HUEFE (RETIIE)

27 Capital and reserves 27 EXRRf#E
Share capital (@) E=
Authorized and issued share capital (i) SETE R B BITRAR
2017 =2—tF 2016 —Z—R4F
Number of shares HK$  Number of shares HK$
g2 BT iR eE] BT
Authorised: EERA
Ordinary shares of BIREEC.01BITH
HK$0.01 each T 2,000,000,000 20,000,000 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Ordinary share, issued BRI RARARA
and fully paid: L
At 1 April RUA—H 927,356,000 9,273,560 929,544,000 9,295,440
Repurchase of shares Eft)
(note 27(a)i) (Pt aE27(a)i)) (1,848,000) (18,480) (2,188,000) (21,880)
At 31 March R=R=+—H 925,508,000 9,255,080 927,356,000 9,273,560

96

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as

declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share

regard to the company’s residual assets.

at meetings of the company. All ordinary shares rank equally with

ERRFEAGRIRERAEIRNRE - LE#E
RASEERE LRER-—FRRERR - IETER
EASERSEE T HARFUHA -

ITE (Holdings) Limited



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—t&F=A=+—HIFE (ETIIE)

27 Capital and reserves (continued)
(a) Share capital (continued) (a)
(ii) Repurchase of shares (ii)

During the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, the company
repurchased its own ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange as

27 EXKHE (E)

A (%)
SR
BE-FT—tR-F-AFZA=+—BLFE"

—=—
ARFRRZMERE T E @D :

follows:
Number of Price paid per share
shares Aggregate BT HER
Month/year * /A repurchased amount paid Highest Lowest
EIEEAR (D 2 B f e 53] §54i
HK$# T HK$Z T HK$E 7T
2017 —E—+tF
September 2016 ZZ—RENA 500,000 75,468 0.150 0.150
October 2016 —E—%¥TH 700,000 103,698 0.149 0.142
March 2017 —E—+F=H 648,000 86,694 0.133 0.133
1,848,000 265,860
2016 —E-AE
July 2015 “T-RFtA 200,000 25,969 0.130 0.124
July 2015 —ZT-hFtA 508,000 59,655 0.125 0.110
December 2015 —T-RF+=A 1,080,000 162,542 0.149 0.148
February 2016 —E—R%¥ZAH 400,000 56,896 0.140 0.139
2,188,000 305,062

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the issued share capital of
the company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares
of HK$18,480 (2016: HK$21,880) and the premium paid on the
repurchase of the shares of HK$247,380 (2016: HK$283,182) was
charged to share premium account.
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RARBETRACEZERGOEE 18,480
BT (ZZ—75F : 21,880/7L) X EIBERMD G
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z

“E—tF=ZA=+—HUEFE (RETIIE)

27 Capital and reserves (continued) 27 EXRKHE (E)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (b) RENHEEREDN

(i) Share premium (i) A1 5 (B
The application of the share premium account is governed by the RO RENBRAEXHAEFERARERANRGIHEELE
company’s Articles of Association and the Companies Law of the ERMAGEE HRERIIFADREZEZEZRD IR
Cayman lIslands, which provides that the share premium account FRMREE R @ AJEERBEEBREPIHNE
may be applied in making distributions or paying dividends to BN - R E R AR MR DR RS © Bk
members, provided that immediately following the date on which & E IR A AR AR IR 3% -
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium may also be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.

(ii) Merger reserve (ii) B PHHEE
The group’s merger reserve represents the excess of the aggregate REENEHHBREE  BE_ZZTF+—A+
of the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries NBRINER - A2 7 F PAS #2 i% 7N iR T B ik
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation completed on 18 BB ARG ARIREAE -
November 2000 on the nominal value of the share capital of the
company issued in exchange therefor.

(iii) Exchange reserve (iii) HINEEBE H i
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences HNIESTE 3 R B 15 0K B 5 I8 H S5 1) B 7% TR R /0
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign HNESTE 3 = R o R RBEH K E2(0) 85t BURE
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the b
accounting policies set out in note 2(p).

(iv) Share option reserve (iv) REIRRE 1R
This reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated I REE T AR IR M s 2(r) (i) 2 5T BUR FTRER A X T
number of unexercised share options granted to eligible persons, ARAIRMBARGER2TE (BEEMNES -
including any director, employee, consultant or advisor of the BE  BEREUREMEBRAL) OERNEERITE
company and its subsidiaries or any associate of the company, REIRES B A FEEK -
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy in note
2(r)Gii).

o8 ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Capital and reserves (continued)
Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2017 and 2016, none of the reserves of the company
is available for distribution to owners of the company, except for
the reserve as stated in note 27 (b)(i).

Capital management

The group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for owners and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher owner returns
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

The group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net debt-
to-adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose the group defines net
debt as total debt (which includes trade and other payables) plus
unaccrued proposed dividends, less cash and cash equivalents and
pledged deposits. Adjusted capital comprises all components of
equity less unaccrued proposed dividends.

During the year, the group’s strategy, which was unchanged from
2016, was to maintain the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio below
50%. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the group may
adjust the amount of dividends to be paid to owners, issue new
shares, return capital to owners, raise new debt financing or sell

assets to reduce debt.
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(@)

100

Financial risk management and fair values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises
in the normal course of the group’s business. The group is also
exposed to equity price risk arising from its financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.

These risks are limited by the group’s financial management
policies and practices described below.

Credit risk

The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are generally due within 30 to 45 days
(2016: 30 to 60 days) from the date of billing. Normally, the group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of
the industry and country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of the
reporting period, the group has a certain concentration of credit
risk as 37% (2016: 14%) and 78% (2016: 61%) of the total trade
receivables were due from the group’s largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of
any collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade and other receivables are set out in
note 17.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—t&F=A=+—HIFE (ETIIE)

28 Financial risk management and fair values 28 S REMRSTERAFE ()

(continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (b) E&RBERR
The group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash REENBEIRFBEHANR KRS EEY @ L
equivalents or have available funding through an adequate HERRTRENAIEAREGEHEE - UEEXNAT
amount of committed annual credit facilities from banks to meet FRELETENABIL - XAREFRR A&
its commitments over the next year in accordance with its strategic EEAEAERHESRREAENEESTE WA
plan. In the opinion of the directors of the company, the group BEERBESAN

expects to have adequate sources of funding to finance the group
and manage the liquidity position.

The maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities as at the end RBERR  AEER BN SR EENRTRER
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted LRI

cash flows, was as follows:

2017 Z8—tF 2016 ZZ—~F
Total Total
contractual Within contractual Within
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount  cash outflows on demand amount cash outflows on demand
BHRAE R—ER BRARTH R—ER
IREE Remi EZRER IREE Rem EEREE
HKSE Tt HK$E T HKS7E T HK$ETT HK$A T HK$BTT
Trade and other payables  JEfTE 5 & EL it fE IR
— Trade payables - EHE SRR 422,948 422,948 422,948 314,046 314,046 314,046
- Accrued chargesand  — ENER K
other payables Hi IR 2,054,166 2,054,166 2,054,166 2,221,244 2,221,244 2,221,244
2,477,114 2477114 2,477,114 2,535,290 2,535,290 2,535,290
() Interest rate risk (0  FIZEmkE
The group’s significant interest-bearing assets are bank deposits. AEENEEZMEEEDRRITENR - ARENF
The group’s interest income is dependent on changes in market BB MK ST 5 R B S - (B8 A KB 5
interest rates and will not have significant adverse impact on the A BARNZE o
group’s financial position.
A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest MEIOEEENSIBA RSB K TS HAEE K
rates would have no significant impact on the group’s financial ARRAFENPBRANESELZTATE -

performance and equity for the year.
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BE_ZT—tF=A=+—BLFE CAETIIE)

Financial risk management and fair values 28 <“EIEKRETERAFHE (&)
(continued)
Currency risk (d) E¥ERRE
The group’s business transactions, assets and liabilities are HRAEEARBOEKERS  BEERAGHEIEN
principally denominated in HK$, RMB, MOP and US$. The group B ARE RFIERETIE - EAZ RN
has minimal exposure to currency risk as the foreign exchange rate HEE R B S K o PR POV T MR SR R P B3 R T
of HK$ is close to MOP and HK$ is also pegged with US$. The BRI BER - AR ERTEAR NS % E R iR
group currently does not have a currency hedging policy in respect 8 o ZN & B 2R B 30 B R T 0 A AT 90 AN EE I
of currency debt. The group will monitor its currency exposure Ko AEEGEEERAINENRR - WRERER
closely and will consider hedging significant currency exposure LASINE 3= HA & 4030 HR SN E [RLFR ©
should the need arise.
The following table details the group’s exposure at the end of the AEBRBEARBUNIRNEEERNEREKZ
reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets NMEREER BEMEENEBREBFANAT
or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate.
Net exposure of Assets and liabilities
BEEEREEFE
2017 —E—tF 2016 —=— "5
HK$E 7T HK$# 7T
RMB AR 79,213 445,871
MOP TRFIEE 1,006,981 347,182
us$ ETT 65,971 40,400
A reasonably possible change of 1% in exchange rates between AR ER G T« R P ER A T N 35 T B T 2 Rl PR
RMB to HK$, MOP to HK$ and US$ to HK$ would have no EE1%AERBHAEENF NG FRE kiR
significant impact on the group’s financial performance and equity NN
for the year.
Equity price risk (e) MRER

The group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value at end of each reporting period. Therefore,
the group is exposed to equity price risk. The directors of the
company manage this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk profiles.

At 31 March 2017, if the market price of the listed equity
securities had increased/decreased by 10% with all other variables
held constant, the group’s profit after tax would have been
HK$140,000 (2016: HK$147,000) higher/lower (2016: higher/
lower).

AEENZBERREATFERENSHEESDRN
HREHRARFEE - BAREERE A (E R
% o M RERAR  ARAEFERRERFHRNY
AETEREBRNEKRERS -

R-TE—+tF=A=+—8  HEMHEELA
TE10% @ MEAL A S EERIGTE - NEBABR
B E RGN, R (ZT—RF 8/
B) 140,000 70 (ZZF—754F 1 147,000 7T) ©
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28 Financial risk management and fair values 28

cREREERATVE (F)

(continued)
(f)  Categories of financial instruments () =S=RMIAMNEE
2017 =ZF—tF 2016 ZF—~"F
HK$7%E T HK$E 7T
Financial assets SREE
Loan and receivables (including cash and ERkEKESR (BERE R
bank balances and time deposits) SRITRE R N BATERR) 12,955,685 12,357,269
Fair value through profit or loss BBERIRIEATE
(held for trading) (FHEEE) 1,675,370 1,764,630
Financial liabilities SRIEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HEKANSRBE 2,477,114 2,535,290
(9) Fair values (90 2¥E

All financial instruments are carried at cost not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 March 2017 and 2016.

The carrying value of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are measured at fair value which is included in a category
of level 1, using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical financial instruments, as defined in HKFRS 13.

29 Commitments 29

At 31 March 2017, the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

BT ITANARKAEER " T—+ R —F—
NE=ZA=T—HNRAFEESKTR -

FERBRREAFENSREERAERS R
B REFEMBHMEENE 135 - DEAERS
BT ANERTS CRERE) WIRE -

i

RZZ—+F=A=+—0 ZrEERBEFHAYME
Y BT A4S A B i 2B B R S B R AR TR & R

RAAR ¢

2017 —ZE—+%F 2016 —Z— "4

HK$#E T HK$#E T
Within 1 year —FR 1,064,655 398,370
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRAFNH - 49,500
1,064,655 447,870

The group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties held
under operating leases. The leases typical run for a period of 1
year to 2 years (2016: 1 year to 2 years) with an option to renew
the lease when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases
includes contingent rentals.

The group did not have any other significant capital and financial
commitments as at 31 March 2017 and 2016.
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31

(a)

(b)

104

Banking facility 30 RITAE
At 31 March 2017, the time deposits of HK$2,000,274 (2016: RZZE—+F=A=+—H " 2,000,2748 (==
HK$2,000,170) (note 21) have been pledged as securities for — 784 £ 2,000,170 7T) (M4 7E21) & HAF SRR 4#
banking facilities granted to the group on the performance TR ERERAKEEETEENEERE B
guarantee in respect of one of the projects of the group. ZIHA T °
Material related party transactions 31 EXBEALRS
Key management personnel remuneration (a) FAREEAEMS
Remuneration for key management personnel of the group, AATEAREEAEMEBIEINAAAEEELE
represents amounts paid to the company’s directors as disclosed in I FESH 77 ©
note 8.
Other related party transactions (b) HMWEBEALRS
The group entered into the following material related party FA - AEEFTIALMERABEATRS :
transactions during the year:
2017 =2 —tF 2016 —ZZ=— "5
HK$# T HK$E 7T
Interest income from an associate i A AR R S U 4,000 -
Facility supporting income received NS R N
from an associate - 319,800

Balance with a related party is disclosed in the consolidated

statement of financial position and in note 18.

BER H SRR S ISR RATRE 184K R -
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32 Subsidiaries’ information 32 MEARESR
At 31 March 2017 and 2016, particulars of the group’s principal NTAREERR T —tR T —R"F=A=1—
subsidiaries are as follows: HOEZMEARFS :
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ Percentage of issued and
Name of company establishment ownership interest paid up capital Principal activities
BRTRBZRA
ARAR /R 2 RSN EA MFE TEER
Indirect
Cf:3
2017 2016
“E-tfF CZTF
ITE Smartcard Solutions Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 3,418,336 Provision of smartcard systems
BEREZGERRR B shares of and related services and sales of
HK$1 each service related products

3418336k  REBREFIEERER
(ERmET) HERBHABER

RF Tech Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 2 shares of Manufacture and research of
) HK$1 each smartcard system and
28% service related products

(BEmEITT)  AERRARERZSEBER

[TE (China) Limited (Note) the PRC 100% 100% United States Provision of smartcard systems
RN SRR AR AR H dollars (“US$") and related services
Ci9) 700,000  REBHERFGREBRY
700,0005 7T
Quesco Systems Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 6,500,000 Provision of IT consultancy services
BERZRERERAH 0 sharesof AP RERRS
HK$1 each
6,500,000/
(BikmEE1T)
ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada Macao 100% 100% Macao Patacas Provision of smartcard systems and
BEZG (RF) BRAR el ("MOP") 25,000 related services and sales of
25,000/ service related products
R R RG RIAERS &
HERBHBER
Note:  ITE (China) Limited is a wholly foreign owned enterprise with an Mzt : EBMXEEZERGERIAFDR—RK2INER
operating period of 20 years expiring on 26 June 2021. ¥ KEBMAE-_TF RZZE_—FXAZTRN
HEm °
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32

33

(a)

106

Subsidiaries’ information (continued) 32

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the group which, in

the opinion of the directors, principally affected the financial

performance for the year or formed a substantial portion of the

MEARES (&)

ERITFEERRIBHEAEHAARAFENBHRR
ARAEEFEETZAKBOHOMBELR - EEF
REBWEEMIEB R RNFHIEHEEHFEREENIT

net assets of the group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, o
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
Financial information of the company 33 ARATFWHBEEHR
Statement of financial position (@) BIBMRE
2017 = —tF 2016 —=— "4
HK$# 7T HK$E 7T
Non-current assets FERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RETB A RBIEE 4,000,000 4,000,000
Current assets ENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries R A BIIR X 289,128 817,763
Deposits and prepayments e RENER 173,349 196,576
Tax recoverable ALY Bl F R - 183,639
Cash and cash equivalents BHeKEEEEY 1,522,939 1,338,677
1,985,416 2,536,655
Current liabilities A=K
Accrued charges and other payables FEET 2 A R Ffth FE TR R 353,008 364,267
Net current assets mEBEEFE 1,632,408 2,172,388
Net assets BEEFE 5,632,408 6,172,388
Capital and reserves BEARR G
Share capital ¥ 9,255,080 9,273,560
Reserves (note 33(b)) & (FIFE33(b)) (3.622,672) (3,101,172)
Total equity kR 5,632,408 6,172,388

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE

Financial information of the company
(continued)

ARE SRR MR

“E—tF=A=+—-HLFE AETIE)

33 AQRNMBER (&)

Details of changes in the company’s individual (b) FRKXATFENEIAESHKENT :
components of reserves during the year:
Share Share  Accumulated
premium option reserve losses Total
R EE BRERE By 1 &t
HK$ETT HK$#TT HK$#TT HK$7ETT
At 1 April 2015 RZT—RFMNA—A 23,092,427 = (24,536,019) (1,443,592)
Loss and total comprehensive FREBEREEY LEE
expense for the year - - (81,578) (81,578)
Equity-settled share-based payments PREEEE DR (D AR
(note 26(b)) (BfsE26(b)) - 1,029,300 - 1,029,300
Repurchase of shares (note 27(a)(ii)) BB (BiEE27(a)ii) (283,182) - - (283,182)
Dividend paid in respect of AEREXMT
previous year (2,322,120 - - (2,322,120)
At 31 March 2016 and R=E—~F=A=+—H
1 April 2016 k=—Z—~FNA—H 20,487,125 1,029,300 (24,617,597) (3,101,172)
Loss and total comprehensive FABERZAZHAE
expense for the year - - (966,273) (966,273)
Equity-settled share-based payments [t A= S DARD B ERE S R
(note 26(b)) (Kiz26(b)) = 692,153 = 692,153
Repurchase of shares (note 27(a)(i)) EEERR D (HiEE27() (i) (247,380) = = (247,380)
At 31 March 2017 R-E—tFZA=1-R 20,239,745 1721453 (25583870)  (3,622,672)
Accounting estimates and judgements 34 E:tHEN{LET
The management had made the following estimates and ERMAEENSBER (FHARKE2)  SEE
assumptions in the process of applying the group’s accounting CER TEIET R ML  EAAGcEREERAE
policies, which are described in note 2, that have a significant risk IEEEEE KIRERE -
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities as discussed below.
Revenue and profit recognition (@) WHRE=FESR

The group estimates the percentage of completion of the service
contracts by reference to the proportion that contract costs
incurred for work performed to date to the estimated total costs
for the contracts. When the final cost incurred by the group
is different from the amounts that were initially budgeted,
such differences will impact the revenue and the profit or loss
recognised in the period in which such determination is made.
Budgeted costs of each project will be reviewed periodically and
revised accordingly where significant variances are noted during
the revision.
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Accounting estimates and judgements
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for the group’s property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of a
similar nature and function.

Impairment on receivables

The policy for impairment on receivables of the group is based
on the evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis of accounts
and on management’s judgement. A considerable amount of
judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each customer. If the financial conditions
of customers of the group were to deteriorate, resulting in
an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional
impairment adjustments may be required.

Write-down of inventories

Write-down of inventories is made based on the ageing and
estimated net realisable value of inventories. The assessment of the
write-down amount involves judgement and estimates. Where the
actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and
the write-down amount charge/reverse in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.

Deferred tax

Estimating the amount for deferred tax assets arising from tax
losses requires a process that involves forecasting future years’
taxable income and assessing the group’s ability to utilise tax
benefits through future earnings. Where the actual future profits
generated are more or less than expected, a recognition or reversal
of the deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised
in profit or loss for the period in which such a recognition or
reversal takes place. While the current operations indicate that the
unused tax losses cannot be utilised in the future, any changes
in assumptions, estimates and tax regulations can affect the
recoverability of this unrecognised deferred tax asset.

34
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35 Possible impact of new and revised 35
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31

March 2017

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 March 2017 and which have not been adopted in the

consolidated financial statements.

These include the following which may be relevant to the group:

BELEGSVBHRRTEZR  BEEHMAE
EEMEIAKE]  FEARRE  EREE_T—
TtE=A=+—HLEFENRER  BAREGS
BATEERR IR ©

VAR % P B B AN R [ 8 A RO 55

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after

ETSASR 2%

BN ETHREEXR

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows: BR G ENETRNEB - REREXR 1 January 2017
Disclosure initiative THHE B S o =
Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Recognition of BESTHENE125MEET - Fi5H 1 January 2017
deferred tax assets for unrealised losses AEARBEEENELCHIEEENTER —Z—+&—f—H
Amendments to HKFRS 2, Share-based payment: BRI ERIE 25 AERT — 1 January 2018
Classification and measurement of share-based PARRAD AR R : SARRD BER X —E-N\&—A—H

payment transactions
Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 cycle

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments
HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers
HKFRS 16, Leases

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28,

Sale or contribution of assets between as investor

and its associate or joint venture

BB R E

BREMBREER T

BRI FERE

——FRE"FT—QNF

1 January 2017 or

1 January 2018,

as appropriate

—E—+F-A—A%

- \E—A—H

(BRiHE)

B BREEFEIRANE - efIT A 1 January 2018
—Z-N\f¥-A—H

B BREENE155 - REZPALM 1 January 2018
Yz —Z-\F¥-A—H
BENBREENE 165 —HE 1 January 2019
“T-NF—H-H

BRMBREERE10RREAGERF 285
WER] - REFEEABLENFN
RELRZANEELEXIE

The group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments, new standards and interpretations
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it
has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
significant impact on the group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Effective date will be
determined upon
outstanding phase

is finalised
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Five Year Summary

TFHE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LAB7THIE)
2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13
“E-RE—tF —E-AHE~F —mE—RE = —nE —Z——F—=F
HKS$& T HK$/TT HK$/ETT HK$ AT HK$/ETT
Results E4
Revenue Wz 22,348,653 24,169,306 29,395,206 22,902,210 28,364,577
Profit from operations RS 382,539 329,315 3,243,839 2,070,026 1,093,371
Finance costs BERAK - - = = (31,711)
Profit before taxation BE TR A 382,539 329,315 3,243,839 2,070,026 1,061,660
Income tax FrHR - = = = -
Profit for the year attributable to ~ AAFEEAER
owners of the company FEIEE R R T 382,539 329,315 3,243,839 2,070,026 1,061,660
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Non-current assets FnEEE 488,312 125,113 202,314 291,201 374,664
Net current assets REEEFE 12,654,748 12,217,670 13,315,012 11,838,380 9,739,173
Net assets BEFE 13,143,060 12,342,783 13,517,326 12,129,581 10,113,837
Earnings per share BREF
Basic (HK cents) BA (A1) 0.04 0.04 035 022 0.11
Diluted (HK cents) #g (B1) 0.04 0.04 035 022 0.11
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Corporate Information

TEREH
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